








SECTION III 



SECTION A 





SECTION D 



RESOLUTION 2025-10 

A RESOLUTION ELECTING THE OFFICERS OF THE TOHOQUA 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, OSCEOLA COUNTY, 

FLORIDA. 

WHEREAS, the Tohoqua Community Development District (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (“Board”) desires to elect the Officers 

of the District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 

SUPERVISORS OF THE TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT: 

SECTION 1.  The following persons are elected to the offices shown: 

Chairperson  

Vice Chairperson 

Secretary 

Assistant Secretary 

Assistant Secretary 

Assistant Secretary 

Assistant Secretary 

Treasurer ________________________ 

Assistant Treasurer ________________________ 

Assistant Treasurer ________________________ 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this _____ day of _________, 2025. 

ATTEST: TOHOQUA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

_______________________________ 

Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 



MINUTES 



MINUTES OF MEETING 

TOHOQUA 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

The regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Tohoqua Community 

Development District was held on Wednesday, May 7, 2025 at 9:00 a.m. at Tohoqua Amenity 

Center, 1830 Fulfillment Drive, Kissimmee, Florida. 

Present and constituting a quorum: 

Andre Vidrine Chairman 

Asif Qureshi Assistant Secretary 

Terry Knight Assistant Secretary 

Also present were: 

George Flint District Manager 

Kristen Trucco District Counsel 

Stephen Saha by phone District Engineer 

Alan Scheerer Field Manager 

Chris Horter GMS 

Marcia Calleja CALM 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS Roll Call 

Mr. Flint called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. and called the roll. A quorum was 

present. 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Public Comment Period 

Mr. Flint: Next is the public comment period. Are there any members of the public that 

would like to provide comment to the Board on anything on the agenda or anything that you 

would like to bring to the Board's attention? I don’t hear any public comments at this time.  

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS Approval of Minutes of the March 3, 2025 

Board of Supervisors Meeting 

Mr. Flint: Next is the approval of the minutes of the March 3, 2025 Board of Supervisors 

meeting. Did the Board have any comments or corrections to the minutes?  
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Mr. Vidrine: No.  

Mr. Flint: We need a motion to approve them.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Qureshi seconded by Mr. Vidrine with all in 

favor the Minutes of the March 3, 2025 Board of Supervisors 

Meeting were approved as presented. 

 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Resolution 2025-08 

Approving the Fiscal Year 2026 Proposed 

Budget and Setting a Public Hearing to 

Adopt 

Mr. Flint: Item four is consideration of Resolution 2025-08, approving a Proposed 

Budget and setting the public hearing. The budget process for the CDD is a two-step process. 

The first step is to approve a Proposed Budget, which is not binding on the Board. It's really the 

start of the budget process and you set the date, place and time of the public hearing, where the 

budget would actually be adopted. I apologize for the lateness of getting the Proposed Budget out 

to you. It is a pretty complicated budget and it took a little bit extra time to get the Proposed 

Budget together. According to the resolution in your agenda, we're recommending your August 

6th meeting at 9:00 a.m. in this location for the actual hearing, where you would consider 

adoption of the budget. The fiscal year starts on October 1st. Attached to this resolution is Exhibit 

A, which was sent out to you by email and was loaded onto the iPads. We're not recommending 

any adjustments at this point to your assessment levels for the properties within the District. But 

I will note, we show in the budget that we're balancing the budget with carry forward. You do 

have adequate carry forward to be able to do this and still maintain more than a three-month 

operating reserve. So, normally what we do, is we look at your projected cash at the end of the 

current year and back out three months of operating reserve, look at the balance and then make a 

determination of whether you have the ability to use some of that cash to balance the budget. 

You could move that cash to your capital reserve or carry it forward in your General Fund. But 

since we are still building out the balance of the community, you still have Phase 8, the last 

phase, which they're just starting now and I think it makes sense to wait until all the dust settles 

on that. I'm going to recommend we bid out the landscaping contract, as that is the single biggest 

expense in your budget. The result of that may be that there are savings that would offset any 

necessary increase. Also, as we firm up your other line items, we will have a better idea of where 
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we stand at the end of Fiscal Year (FY) 2026. So, at this point, we believe that it makes sense to 

balance the budget. We also have some expenses in here that are for a full year. We know that 

we're not going to have a full year of those expenses because Phase 8 is included in here. So, it 

makes sense to balance with the carry forward at this point, unless the Board feels differently. If 

there was to be a proposed increase in this budget, there would be a mailed notice, letting 

everybody know that. But since there isn't, you'll have a public hearing in August, which will be 

advertised in accordance with the Statutes and we'll go from there. You will see that your 

Administrative expenses are basically flat in total and we are asking for a 3% increase in the line 

items associated with District management. We've adjusted some of the other line items down to 

compensate for that increase. You're not approving that increase today. Again, this is a Proposed 

Budget and if it's adopted with those adjustments in August, those would go into effect. Under 

Contractual Services, we've adjusted the Landscape Maintenance number and we have some 

detailed information in the narrative showing that. But this is intended to cover all of the phases 

through build-out. There are some adjustments, as United was asking for an increase in some of 

their existing phases and it also includes everything through Phase 8. Again, I think we need to 

bid that contract out. So, as the community has been developing and new phases have been 

added, we've been amending the budget. I think contractors have a tendency in that scenario, as 

the price ends up getting a little out of whack where it needs to be, if you bid the whole thing 

together. It keeps everybody honest. I think that's the primary change in that first section. The 

next section is Repairs & Maintenance, which has actually gone down a little bit. We also had a 

line item for Stormwater Inspections, which is done in accordance with the bond indenture and is 

expended under the Engineering line item up in the Administrative section, so there's no need to 

have a separate line item for that. Utilities have increased by about $15,000. Again, these are all 

estimates and we'll know better once we start getting all of the landscaped areas online. A lot of 

the increases in these sections, was for the Phase 4C amenity, that will be coming on in the next 

month or so. So, you will see some adjustments in the Pool Attendants line item, as well as Pool 

Cleaning, Janitorial and Utilities. The majority of those adjustments that you see in the budget, 

are anticipated to address the new amenity facility coming online. We've increased the Special 

Events budget from $25,000 to $35,000. We also increased the revenue line associated with that, 

assuming a 50% recovery of those costs. So, you'll see that the revenue line is $17,500. Our goal 

would be that for those special events that we hold, to recover 50% of the expense through 
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admissions. That's really in a nutshell, the Proposed Budget. Again, this is the start of the budget 

process. You're not writing anything in stone today by approving this, but it allows us to transmit 

this to the City of St. Cloud and Osceola County, at least 60 days before your budget hearing. 

They have the ability to comment on it, but they don't have any approval authority. The 20 plus 

years I've been managing CDDs, I've never received a comment from a local government. It’s 

just part of the statutory process we have to follow. It kind of drives the timeframes for when 

your public hearing will be. Are there any questions on the Proposed Budget? Feel free to get 

with us after the meeting, between this meeting and the next meeting, with any comments or 

questions and we can address those.  

Mr. Qureshi: George, I just have one quick question. I noticed that in Hurricane Cleanup, 

the actual through 3/31/25, you’re showing $22,318. But we are not projecting anything for the 

Proposed Budget in 2026.  

Mr. Flint: Yeah, you can't predict if there's going to be a hurricane or not. The likelihood 

is there isn't, but you always need to plan in the event that there is one.  

Mr. Qureshi: Right. 

Mr. Flint: But my thought on that, is we didn't have a budget in the current year for the 

cleanup.  

Mr. Qureshi: Right. 

Mr. Flint: Typically, that would be a Contingency item. We have $25,000 in the 

Contingency line item and you're also going to have some savings in your other line. So, rather 

than building that as an ongoing cost into your budget every year and having to fund that through 

assessments, it's typically something that you would handle in a contingency.  

Mr. Qureshi: That’s good. 

Mr. Flint: Depending on how bad the damage is, we have insurance coverage. We also 

have the ability to apply for FEMA grants. It didn't rise to the level of needing to do this, but a 

lot of these expenses have to do with straightening trees and debris removal.  

Mr. Qureshi: Right. 

Mr. Flint: There are FEMA grants for debris removal, but this didn't rise to the level of 

going through that bureaucratic morass, to try to get that money. Sometimes it takes a decade to 

get those things closed out.  
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Mr. Vidrine: One of the reasons that we work with GMS, from the management company 

side and the city management side, is that you eliminate two different management styles and 

costs moving around. The other reason we do it, is that we're pretty conservative when we started 

up the CDD. A lot of other places will have higher dues, but we wanted reasonable dues. We 

initially try and front load a little bit of a safety net, because you don't know what is going to 

develop. So, it doesn't surprise me that we have a little bit of extra cushion in there, to not raise 

the fees right now. That's exactly what you're going to do. I've done several CDDs with these 

folks and this is pretty standard. My personal opinion is this a very stable community. I'm seeing 

in the finances where it's a $1 million plus budget and they're pretty close to budget. So, they're 

taking the time to think their way through it. I agree with George, that the contractor comes in 

kind of low, they get a big project and then over time they start nipping at you. Then there's no 

competition and before long, they get comfortable. So, I totally agree with bidding it out. I think 

that's going to probably provide some savings, I speculate. So, this is great. This is what we 

want. So, thank you.  

Mr. Flint: Okay. If there are no other questions or discussion, is there a motion to approve 

Resolution 2025-08?  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Vidrine seconded by Mr. Knight with all in 

favor Resolution 2025-08 Approving the Proposed Budget for 

Fiscal Year 2026 and Setting the Public Hearing for August 6, 2025 

at 9:00 a.m., at this location was adopted.  

 

Mr. Flint: Alright. So, we will have the hearing in August for the final consideration of 

this and we'll continue to refine it between now and then.  

 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Resolution 2025-09 

Conveyance of Real Property and 

Improvements from Lennar Homes, LLC. 

Mr. Flint: Item 5 is Resolution 2025-09, dealing with the conveyance of real property 

improvements from Lennar. Kristin? 

Ms. Trucco: Good morning, Board Members. You've seen this form of resolution before. 

This is our standard form with our set of conveyance documents, in order to convey real property 

and infrastructure improvements from the developer to the CDD, once those improvements have 
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been constructed and once the property has received all of the sign-offs and approvals necessary 

from the applicable governmental entities, such as the Water Management District, the county 

signing off that the properties and the infrastructure have been constructed in accordance with 

the plans, etc. We've been put on notice that the real property tracks in Phase 7, that are noted on 

the plat as to be conveyed to the CDD, are completed and ready to be conveyed. So, the first step 

in our conveyance process, is to bring this resolution to the Board, to authorize us to begin our 

diligence items, in order to provide sign-off on the actual conveyance of the real property tracks 

and the improvements from the developer to the CDD. This resolution is going to approve the 

conveyance documents attached as Exhibit A, that includes a Special Warranty Deed, which is 

going to actually convey the real property tracts from the developer to the CDD. You can see 

those listed out in the exhibit on Page 57. For example, the exhibit to the Special Warranty Deed, 

shows all of the actual tracks that are coming to the CDD. Those include recreation tracks, at P-1 

and P-2, stormwater contracts for SWP-1 through SWP-3 and open space tracks 1 through 6. 

Also, the improvements that are located on those real property tracks, will be conveyed to the 

CDD by a Bill of Sale. But those are also noted in our conveyance documents. So, those will be 

confirmed with the District Engineer, but you can see a preliminary list right now, attached to the 

Bill of Sale. This Bill of Sale starting on Page 58, will convey those infrastructure improvements 

from the developer to the CDD. Then on Page 63, there's an Owner's Affidavit, which is 

assurance from the developer, Lennar Homes LLC., that there are no encumbrances on the 

property that will prohibit the CDD from owning and maintaining those in accordance with the 

plans for the CDD. Starting on Page 67, is our Agreement Regarding Taxes, which was a 

contract that the developer was required to sign. Basically, it is assurance that there are no 

outstanding taxes on the real property tracks. Once the CDD owns those tracts, we're exempt 

from real property tax. But up until this point, if there are any outstanding taxes, the developer 

would be responsible for those under this Agreement Regarding Taxes. I'll also add that we order 

title work as part of District Counsel diligence, before we sign off on a conveyance, to confirm 

that there are no liens or outstanding mortgages and no outstanding taxes. So, we won't sign up 

on this conveyance until we can confirm that too. Then finally there's the Certificate of District 

Engineer which is included on Page 72. This is actually a requirement in your bond documents, 

assurance from the engineer that the improvements on the real property tracks were constructed 

and completed in accordance with the plan specifications and contracts and that the 
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improvements were properly permitted by the appropriate governmental entities. It is also just 

assurance that these particular tracks are intended to come to the CDD and that the conveyance is 

consistent with the development plans, which in this case, was for Phase 7. What I would 

recommend today, is a motion to approve Resolution 2025-09, which will authorize us to 

proceed with the conveyance and getting sign-off on the conveyance documents by your 

Chairman. It will all be subject to staff sign-off. So, I'm not going to sign off on it and record the 

deed, until we're comfortable. We've ordered the title work and the District Engineer is required 

to sign that certificate and we'll get the District Manager's approval on it as well.  

Mr. Vidrine: So, we're starting the process, but today is not the day that we’re signing it.  

Ms. Trucco: Well, this resolution is going to approve the conveyance, but you can make 

it subject to staff sign-off.  

Mr. Vidrine: Okay.  

Ms. Trucco: That's what we typically see and what we're recommending in this situation. 

Are there any questions on the conveyance itself or the resolution?  

Mr. Vidrine: No.  

Ms. Trucco: We need a motion to approve Resolution 2025-09, approving the 

Conveyance Documents in substantial final form subject to staff sign-off.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Vidrine seconded by Mr. Qureshi with all in 

favor Resolution 2025-09 Approving the Conveyance of Real 

Property and Improvements from Lennar Homes, LLC. in 

substantial final form subject to staff sign-off was adopted.  

 

Mr. Flint: There are still some punch list items in Phase 7 that we want to make sure you 

get taken care of before we officially accept it.  

Mr. Vidrine: That's why I asked. Because we need to get the paperwork started and this 

process approved.  

Ms. Trucco: I believe that the stormwater collection system in Phase 7, including the Bill 

of Sale, is complete and it's been certified complete. So, we may be in a situation where we 

might parse that out.  

Mr. Vidrine: That’s fine. 
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Ms. Trucco: If the other tracks are not ready and the punch list items aren't there for that, 

then we're going to hold that. But if we get the District Engineer sign-off on the stormwater 

collection system, then we won't have an objection proceeding with that, unless there's an 

objection from the Board. But again, everything is subject to staff sign-off.  

Mr. Flint: There's a walkthrough on Tuesday on the stormwater collection system.  

Mr. Scheerer: The ponds are good, have been certified complete and have been approved 

by the engineer for the two ponds in Phase 7 that were recently done. But there are some 

landscape issues that we're going to address on Tuesday the 13th, along with some other issues 

out here. Everything hopefully will be done by next week.  

Mr. Flint: On the stormwater collection system.  

Mr. Scheerer: Yeah, it's the landscaping and some of the park areas, as well as some of 

the open space tracks.  

Mr. Vidrine: There are some tracks that they have been working on for a while. We're not 

going to accept it until it's done. At the same time, it has to be maintained, so it doesn't get 

burned up. We're also dealing with construction on Neptune Road. That irrigation's a real pain. 

They’ve been chasing their tail to try and keep the water out. It's challenging. What I typically 

see, is it goes in, then it gets a little rough looking and the houses are going up everywhere. As it 

starts to move through, then everything starts filling in greener and lusher. In between that, 

sometimes you have a little replacement. I don't love it. It's just kind of the nature of 

construction, but I like where they are. They know how thorough and anal I am.  

 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Conveyance of Property 

from Pulte Home Company, LLC. 

Mr. Flint: Item six is the conveyance of property from Pulte Home Company, LLC., 

which we don't have a resolution for. But I think you wanted to introduce this.  

Ms. Trucco: Yes, I did. The reason we don't have a resolution; it came in last Wednesday 

and I didn't have time to do the formal resolution. But you just saw basically our standard 

resolution for anything that's conveyed to the CDD. We go through that process prior to any deed 

being approved. So, what this is basically, we were put on notice that Pulte Homes had 

inadvertently been conveyed this small strip of land, which is an existing ditch that's already 

been certified complete by the Water Management District, which outfalls into the stormwater 

pond. You can see that pond on the map on Page 78, which is pretty helpful. You can see the 
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tract highlighted in yellow, which is adjacent to the K8 school site. This is an outfall drainage 

ditch trap, that's going to drain water into the existing stormwater pond that will be owned by the 

CDD. It seems right now, based on our review, that this should be conveyed to the CDD. The 

CDD also has an interest in owning it, if it's draining into the pond that the CDD is responsible 

for maintaining and which the CDD has or will have the permit for, as well, for the Water 

Management District. So, this is basically the request that had come in. We still need to run it 

past the District Engineer, as well as GMS and Alan have to do their walkthroughs, to make sure 

that everyone agrees that that piece should be conveyed to the CDD. Basically, I wanted to bring 

this to your attention, since this was a request that came in. What you can do, is approve this 

concept, but final sign-off is subject to staff being comfortable and providing their sign-off. So, 

we would go through the same process and require the same documents as you just saw in 

Resolution 2025-09. Meaning there's going to be a deed, an Agreement Regarding Taxes, 

Owner's Affidavit, the engineer is going to have to sign-off that the tract received all the 

necessary permits, etc. and that the CDD is intended to only maintain that. The developer, Pulte 

will have to do a walkthrough with GMS to identify anything that they need to repair before we 

would approve an actual deed. We would also go through the process of ordering title work, to 

make sure there are no liens, encumbrances, mortgages outstanding taxes, etc. on that property.  

Mr. Vidrine: We definitely want this ditch. This is part of the final conveyance to the 

property, which drains from Neptune Road through the project and it gets down to the very end. 

After it's been treated and everything, then it will get to the wetland system in the lake. This little 

ditch is one of those major outfalls for the whole system. You want to control your destiny and 

where your water goes. So, we definitely want the track.  

Mr. Flint: Do you want the Board to just approve Resolution 2025-10? Would you want 

to document it that way and then you can prepare the resolution?  

Ms. Trucco: Actually, that's a great idea. Then we'll just have it for ratification. If you're 

comfortable with that today, basically what George is proposing, is that you approve Resolution 

2025-10, approving the conveyance of the ditch piece here, the outfall piece to the CDD from 

Pulte. That will be subject to all of the conveyance documents that were in Resolution 2025-09 

and subject to staff sign-off, if you're comfortable with that. Then at the next Board meeting, 

we’ll bring back the formal resolution, for documentation purposes, which the Board could then 
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ratify. Are you comfortable with that? Do you have any questions? I think you were asking 

which school that was.  

Mr. Vidrine: I think that's the same school. We have a high school site that the School 

Board owns and the School Board is trying to transfer. It’s a high-end charter school, with some 

exceptional education opportunities. So, we're super excited. We've been working on that since 

2017 to get them here. We're going through the motions.  

Mr. Flint: Okay. Is there a motion to approve Resolution 2025-10?  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Vidrine seconded by Mr. Qureshi with all in 

favor Resolution 2025-10 Conveyance of Real Property and 

Improvements from Pulte Homes in substantial final form subject to 

staff sign-off was adopted.  

 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Presentation of Series 2018 Arbitrage 

Rebate Report 

Mr. Flint: Item 7 is the presentation of the Series 2018 Arbitrage Rebate Report. The 

Internal Reserve Service (IRS) requires that we do an arbitrage calculation, to ensure that we're 

not earning more interest than we're paying. You retained AMTEC to prepare this report for 

$450. Every five years, it needs to be reported to the IRS. You will see that there is negative 

rebatable arbitrage of $57,093.21, meaning there are no arbitrage issues. Are any questions on 

the report? If not, is there a motion to accept it?  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Vidrine seconded by Mr. Qureshi with all in 

favor the Arbitrage Rebate Calculation Report for Series 2018 was 

approved.  

 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Presentation of Series 2023 Phase 4B/5B 

Project Arbitrage Rebate Report 

Mr. Flint: Then we have the same report for the Series 2023 bonds, with the same 

requirement. AMTEC does this one as well. We have negative rebatable arbitrage of $8,927.82. 

Are there any questions on the report? If not, is there a motion to accept it?  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Vidrine seconded by Mr. Qureshi with all in 

favor the Arbitrage Rebate Calculation Report for the Series 2023 

Phase 4B/5B Project was approved.  
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NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Environmental 

Resource Permit Transfer 

Mr. Flint: This is the request for transfer of the Environmental Resource Permit from 

Lennar to the CDD, as the operations and maintenance entity for Phase 7. I wanted to make sure 

this didn't get executed until we're comfortable that the Phase 7 stormwater system is complete 

and signed off. The permit typically is in the developer's name. This is the permit from the Water 

Management District for the stormwater system site development. Once the infrastructure is 

complete and everything is signed off, this form gets executed and the permit would be 

transferred to the CDD as the operating entity going forward. It's been executed by Lennar but 

has not been signed yet by the CDD. I think that the Board could consider approving this subject 

to sign-off by the District Engineer, District Counsel and staff. I think once the walkthrough is 

completed on Tuesday and everyone is comfortable with it, we would be in a situation where this 

could be executed. The CDD is the operation and maintenance entity for all of the ERPs within 

Tohoqua. One of its primary responsibilities was to own and operate the stormwater system. So, 

it would be appropriate, if everything is signed off, for this to be transferred. Are there any 

questions on this? Comments, Mr. Chairman?  

Mr. Vidrine: This is what we been doing the whole time out here, so it's pretty standard. 

So, I have no questions.  

Mr. Flint: Is there a motion to authorize it, subject to staff sign-off  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Vidrine seconded by Mr. Qureshi with all in 

favor the Environmental Resource Permit Transfer of the Phase 7 

stormwater system subject to sign-off by the District Engineer, 

District Counsel and staff was approved.  

 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Staff Reports 

A. Attorney 

Mr. Flint: Staff Reports. Kristen? 

Ms. Trucco: I have nothing new to report to the Board.  

 

B. Engineer 

Mr. Flint: Stephen, is there anything from the District Engineer?  
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Mr. Saha: I don't have anything to report.  

 

C. Field Manager’s Report 

i. Consideration of Proposal for Pond Maintenance 

Mr. Flint: Field Manager's Report. Alan has his report and also has some proposals for 

the Board.  

Mr. Scheerer: Yeah, we can just go through the proposals first and then I'll give you an 

overview of the field stuff. The first item is a proposal with Sunshine Land Management for 

maintenance of Ponds 14 and 15 in Phase 7. This is the monthly amount that we would be 

charged and it's also included in the budget for this year, as well as for next year. So, once we do 

the walkthrough, we can start maintaining the water. This is just a water maintenance item only. 

I can answer any questions the Board may have with respect to this particular proposal.  

Mr. Vidrine: Correct me if I'm wrong, but the pond gets clean, there are no cattails, all 

that stuff there and then you would start treating it.  

Mr. Scheerer: Yeah. They do monthly maintenance of the shoreline vegetation, algae, 

torpedo grass, pennywort and cattails.  

Mr. Vidrine: The challenge that people have, is when they wait too long before they start 

doing it and it's already rooted in and everything like that. So, I think this is not an option. We 

have to do it as soon as we can.  

Mr. Flint: Yeah, we want to get in there and maintain it.  

Mr. Scheerer: A lot of this is just, we're trying to get ahead of it, in case the Board doesn't 

meet next month.  

Mr. Vidrine: Yeah. 

Mr. Scheerer: We don't want to have to wait two or three months, then we end up with 

issues, not only with this particular contract, but you’re also going to see addendums for 4C and 

Phase 7 landscape maintenance. So, as soon as everything's good to go and we can sign off on 

everything, we're not waiting on the contractor to come and perform those services.  

Mr. Vidrine: Yeah, you can burn up your landscaping from the Summer heat. So, yeah, 

you're being proactive. So, thank you.  

Mr. Scheerer: Mother Nature is not helping right now. So, we're just looking for a motion 

to approve this proposal with Sunshine Land Management.  
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On MOTION by Mr. Vidrine seconded by Mr. Qureshi with all in 

favor the proposal with Sunshine Land Management for the 

maintenance of Ponds 14 and 15 in Phase 7 in the amount of $210 

was approved.  

 

ii. Consideration of Service Agreement Addendum for Landscape 

Maintenance at Phase 4C Amenity Center 

Mr. Scheerer: The next agreement is anticipating the new 4C amenity. We had a pre walk 

with Pulte maybe 10 days ago. There's a lot of just general building punch list items. The 

landscaping is going in right now. It looks like they have all the irrigation in. They're installing 

trees. I saw them get there again this morning. So again, in anticipating this coming on within the 

next 30 to 60 days, we would like to make sure that if the Board doesn't meet next month, that 

we are ready to take over the 4C amenity as a standalone, as opposed to all the improvements in 

4C, which is a whole other conversation. 

Mr. Vidrine: We were just talking about it. 

Mr. Scheerer: We we're just talking about the pool facility amenity. Again, this is 

something that we anticipate in this year's budget as well as next year's budget. Once 

everything's done, we'll do the walkthrough, sign-off and we'll start taking control. 

Mr. Vidrine: Yeah. 

Mr. Scheerer: There is an item on that 4C amenity, that it has to be installed prior to us 

taking over the entire track, which is the handicap lift. CDDs will need to have a handicap lift. 

We did meet with Pulte on that and they are aware and we provide them with specs and 

information, as I just installed two hydraulic lifts in another CCD in western Osceola County. So 

hopefully they get that going and it's not going to hold us up. But this is the landscape portion.  

Mr. Vidrine: Yeah, I like that you're being on top of that. It's the liability side of it, so 

yeah, hold the line there.  

Mr. Scheerer: Yes sir. 

Mr. Vidrine: Great.  

Mr. Flint: They're used to building private amenities under the HOA, which don't have 

that ADA obligation. The other item on that amenity that we're concerned about, is the access 

system, making sure that it's compatible. I don't believe they planned appropriately for that, even 

though we advised them. So, we'll be working on that as well.  
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Mr. Scheerer: There is a meeting with our contractor today, after this meeting, to go over 

and check out the compatibility, so residents don't have to have multiple key cards to gain access 

to these facilities.  

Mr. Vidrine: That's the key. I know you’re stating it for everyone else. It has to be 

seamless and they need to go rip it out and put seamless stuff in.  

Mr. Scheerer: That was discussed well before the construction phase of this.  

Mr. Vidrine: That happens, unfortunately.  

Mr. Scheerer: But as far as this goes, this is a landscape addendum. We're just seeking 

approval from the Board. If you have any questions, I can answer those.  

Mr. Vidrine: No, we don't want to get them burned up. In no man's land, is where bad 

stuff happens. So, I think it's really prudent.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Vidrine seconded by Mr. Knight with all in 

favor the Service Agreement Addendum for Landscape 

Maintenance at Phase 4C Amenity Center was approved.  

 

iii. Consideration of Service Agreement Addendum for Landscape 

Maintenance at Phase 7 

Mr. Scheerer: The final addendum that I have for this Board today, is with Action 

Landscape for Phase 7. So, again, we have a walkthrough on the 13th, not only for a follow up to 

Phase 7, but also for some landscape issues in the median on Tohoqua Boulevard and some street 

trees. We'll be doing that in conjunction. Again, we'd like to get this approved in advance, in case 

everything is done and then we can tell the contractor to go ahead and move forward with the 

landscape maintenance of Phase 7.  

Mr. Flint: Are there any questions on the addendum? Is there a motion to approve it?  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Vidrine seconded by Mr. Knight with all in 

favor the Service Agreement Addendum for Landscape 

Maintenance at Phase 7 was approved.  

 

Mr. Scheerer: Alright, just a quick overview of what's going on in the field. We have a 

proposal with United Land, to do a bulk cleanup of straightening and replacing all of the dead 

and damaged trees within the community. As you may not know, all of the street trees between 



May 7, 2025 Tohoqua CDD 

 15 

the sidewalk and curb, with the exception of Phase 5, are the responsibility of the CDD. We're 

also working with the HOA, to make sure that compliance letters are sent to residents that are not 

maintaining the trees, but if they get damaged or due to storms, that will fall to the CDD. So, 

we're working on that. I think Mr. Vidrine touched on the irrigation earlier. We've had some 

challenges with Toho and the construction on Neptune. We have a master control system for a 

majority of this community, called Baseline. We discovered some errors off and on throughout 

the construction phase at the entrance. Those areas have all been cleared. We have United here 

on a regular basis, just making sure they're following up with our irrigation. Everything seems to 

be working well, but we do have some spots that are hot and there are some coverage issues that 

they're working through. We did a mulching of the all the CDD areas within the community, so 

that's been complete. We do have some extra mulch that we're holding, until we see what's going 

on with the landscape renovation in Phase 6 and some other areas. We had some pool and paver 

repairs here, as well. As I touched on earlier, we did the 4C walkthrough with Pulte and we'll 

follow up on that to see how we're doing as far as that goes. There is the May 13th walkthrough 

on Cross Prairie Parkway and Tohoqua Boulevard, as well as Phase 7. We'll try to get those 

corrected and get those items completed. Then we can go ahead and turn them over and then 

based on this OS-10 track in Phase 8, this drainage swell, we'll be looking at that. I'll reach out to 

Sunshine Land Management, to and see if there's something that they need to be involved with or 

if that's something we just need to work with the landscaper on, to make sure that we're 

maintaining that once everybody has had an opportunity to assess that stormwater swell.  

Mr. Vidrine: Yeah, I think that's another good example of the discipline you'll have with 

not automatically accepting something, because a piece of paper's done. It just needs to be done 

right. I think you're putting the manpower on it and this is the kind of armrest that you have to go 

through, to get to the end of the final product. So, I appreciate you standing on top of it. I know 

it's a pain, so thank you for doing it.  

Mr. Scheerer: If you can believe the weather forecasters, we're supposed to get some 

good rain today and in the next couple days. We can sure use it, because as you know, Toho will 

shut our water off without warning. A couple of days ago I received a text message from the 

crew that we had low pressure. The no pressure lasted for about 24 hours of no water and then all 

of a sudden we got our water back.  

Mr. Vidrine: This is coming from the municipality itself.  
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Mr. Scheerer: Yeah, that's not us. It's not what we're doing. It’s the supplier.  

Mr. Vidrine: Yeah.  

Mr. Scheerer: Again, along with the street tree replacement, we'll be obviously hitting the 

trees around the pond. Phase 5 will be included in that street tree replacement. That's all I have.  

Mr. Vidrine: That's good. It sounds like this is getting tightened. So, that’s great. 

Mr. Scheerer: We're working hard. Yes, sir.  

 

D. Amenity Manager’s Report 

Mr. Flint: Amenity Manager’s Report.  

Mr. Calleja: Good morning, Board. We did start our pool attendant services, which is 

usually from March to October, our busiest time of the year. We've already started that. We had 

the pool bucket cleaned last month. We also installed an additional bike rack, because we saw 

that they were filled up, especially when we had events. Bikes were all over the place. So, we did 

install a new bike rack. We have the club rentals for March and April in your report; three in 

March and four in April. We also have an events recap from March and April. We had some 

really good events and included pictures in the report. I think the biggest one out of those, was 

Happy Hoppy Easter, as we had a little over 200 attendees. There was the Easter bunny, a 

balloon artist, face painting, pizza, Easter eggs and crafts. The weather was magnificent. It was a 

great day. Everyone had a good time. I've also included the upcoming events starting with a 

Mommy and Me paint party, this Friday. If the Board has any questions for me, I would be 

happy to answer them.  

Mr. Flint: Are there any questions for Marcia?  

Mr. Vidrine: No. 

Mr. Flint: Thanks, Marcia.  

 

E. District Manager’s Report 

i. Approval of Check Register 

Mr. Flint: You have approval of the Check Register from February 25, 2025 through 

April 21, 2025, for the General Fund and Board compensation, in the total amount of 

$1,266,942.15. A big part of that you'll see, is indicated as being transferred to the Trustee, 

which was the debt service assessment revenue that comes in. The operating and maintenance 

and the debt service come to the CDD in one check and then you have to transfer that money to 
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the Trustee for the debt service. You'll see that there are some large checks to the Trustee, to 

move that money. Actually, there's a $1.1 million dollar check to the State Board of 

Administration, which is our investment account. That's an investment pool operated by the State 

of Florida where we invest excess cash. Are there any questions on the Check Register? If not, 

we need a motion to approve it.  

 

On MOTION by Mr. Qureshi seconded by Mr. Knight with all in 

favor the Check Register from February 25, 2025 through April 21, 

2025 in the amount of $1,266,942.15 was approved. 

 

ii. Balance Sheet and Income Statement 

Mr. Flint: We have the Unaudited Financials through March 31, 2025. This is for the first 

six months of Fiscal Year 2025. We have the Combined Balance Sheet and Statement of 

Revenue and Expenditures for each of the funds. You can see on Page 151 of the PDF, for the 

General Fund, we're just about 100% collected on our on-roll assessments and 100% collected 

where we need to be on our direct assessments, based on the payment schedule. We will be over 

100% collected. As you know, you can pay your taxes through the end of March and then after 

that, sometimes they are delinquent and then there's a tax certificate sale for anyone who doesn't 

pay their taxes. We ultimately are over 100% collected every year. Our actuals on each of the 

categories, were under our prorated budget amounts on the expense side. Are there any questions 

on the financials? No action is required by the Board.  

 

iii. Presentation of Registered Voters – 1,474 

Mr. Flint: The last item under my report, each year, we are required to announce the 

number of registered voters, as of April 15th. You can see within the Tohoqua CDD boundaries, 

there are 1,474 registered voters. This is important when you look at the transition of the Board 

to resident control, as that transition has already occurred, because you had six years and 250 

registered voters and two residents are currently on the Board. But we continue to have to put 

this on the agenda every year. It really has no bearing on anything at this point, other than just 

information. The next two seats will transition to General Election in November of 2026. So, 

next June, there will be a process, where anybody interested in running for those seats can 
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qualify with the Supervisor of Elections. But we announce that in the Spring next year. Are there 

any questions on the District Manager's Report? Hearing none, 

 

ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Other Business 

Mr. Flint: Is there any Other Business? Hearing none, 

 

TWELFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Supervisors Requests 

Mr. Flint: Are there any there any Supervisors Requests? Is there anything that was not 

on the agenda that the Board wanted to discuss? If not, we need a motion to adjourn. 

 

THIRTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Adjournment 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Vidrine seconded by Mr. Qureshi with all in 

favor the meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

 

________________________________  ________________________________ 

Secretary / Assistant Secretary    Chairman / Vice Chairman 
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 The District Manager or Treasurer must ensure that any amendments to the budget under paragraph 

c. above are posted on the District’s website within five (5) days after adoption and remain on the website 

for at least two (2) years.   

 

SECTION 4.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 

adoption.  

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6th DAY OF AUGUST, 2025.  

 

 

 

ATTEST:      TOHOQUA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 

 

       By:       

Secretary/Assistant Secretary    

       Its:       

 

 

Exhibit A:  Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Budget 
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 WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the District to permit the District Manager to amend the 

Assessment Roll adopted herein, certified to the County Tax Collector by this Resolution, as the Property 

Appraiser updates the property roll for the County, for such time as authorized by Florida law. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

THE TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 

 SECTION 1. BENEFIT & ALLOCATION FINDINGS.  The provision of the services, facilities, and 

operations as described in Exhibit “A” confers a special and peculiar benefit to the lands within the District, 

which benefit exceeds or equals the cost of the assessments. The allocation of the assessments to the 

specially benefitted lands is shown in Exhibits “A” and “B,” and is hereby found to be fair and reasonable. 

 

 SECTION 2. ASSESSMENT IMPOSITION.  Pursuant to Chapters 190 and 197, Florida Statutes, 

and using the procedures authorized by Florida law for the levy and collection of special assessments, a 

special assessment for operation and maintenance is hereby imposed and levied on benefitted lands within 

the District, and in accordance with Exhibits “A” and “B.”  The lien of the special assessments for 

operations and maintenance imposed and levied by this Resolution shall be effective upon passage of this 

Resolution.   

 

SECTION 3.  COLLECTION.  The collection of the operation and maintenance special 

assessments and previously levied debt service assessments shall be at the same time and in the same 

manner as County taxes in accordance with the Uniform Method, as indicated on Exhibits “A” and “B.”  

The decision to collect special assessments by any particular method – e.g., on the tax roll or by direct bill 

– does not mean that such method will be used to collect special assessments in future years, and the District 

reserves the right in its sole discretion to select collection methods in any given year, regardless of past 

practices.   

 

 SECTION 4. ASSESSMENT ROLL.  The Assessment Roll, attached to this Resolution as Exhibit 

“B,” is hereby certified for collection to the County Tax Collector and shall be collected by the County Tax 

Collector in the same manner and time as County taxes.  The proceeds therefrom shall be paid to the District. 

 

 SECTION 5. ASSESSMENT ROLL AMENDMENT.  The District Manager shall keep apprised of 

all updates made to the County property roll by the Property Appraiser after the date of this Resolution, and 

shall amend the Assessment Roll in accordance with any such updates, for such time as authorized by 

Florida law, to the County property roll.  After any amendment of the Assessment Roll, the District Manager 

shall file the updates in the District records. 

 

 SECTION 6.  SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more provisions 

of this Resolution shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining portions of this Resolution, 

or any part thereof. 

 

 SECTION 7. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon the passage and 

adoption of this Resolution by the Board. 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 6th day of August 2025. 
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2. Approval of Acquisition and Transfer of the Real Property and Improvements.  The 

Board hereby approves the transfer and acceptance of the real property and improvements, as 

described in the Conveyance Documents, from Pulte to the District, and approves and accepts the 

Conveyance Documents, subject to sign-off by the District’s staff. 

3. Authorization of District Staff.  The Chairman, the Vice Chairman, the Secretary, 

any Assistant Secretary and the District Manager of the District, and any authorized designee 

thereof (collectively, the "District Officers"), District Counsel, and the District Engineer are hereby 

authorized and directed to take all actions necessary or desirable in connection with the conveyance 

of the real property and improvements described in the Conveyance Documents and all 

transactions in connection therewith.  The District Officers are hereby authorized and directed to 

execute all necessary or desirable certificates, documents, papers, and agreements necessary to the 

undertaking and fulfillment of all transactions contemplated by this Resolution. 

4.  Ratification of Prior Actions.  All actions taken to date by the District Officers, 

District Manager, District Counsel, District Engineer, are hereby ratified and authorized on behalf 

of the District. 

 5. Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Resolution shall 

be held to be invalid or ineffective for any reason, the remainder of this Resolution shall continue 

in full force and effect, it being expressly hereby found and declared that the remainder of this 

Resolution would have been adopted despite the invalidity or ineffectiveness of such section, 

paragraph, clause or provision. 

6. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

 

[Continues on the Following Pages] 
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 PASSED in public meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Tohoqua Community 

Development District, this 6th day of August, 2025. 

TOHOQUA COMMUNITY    

      DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Attest: 

 

______________________________ By: __________________________________ 

Print: _________________________  Name: _______________________________ 

Secretary/Asst. Secretary   Title: _________________________________ 
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

CONVEYANCE DOCUMENTS  

1. Special Warranty Deed  

2. Bill of Sale Absolute and Agreement to the District 

3. Owner’s Affidavit  

4. Agreement Regarding Taxes 

5. Certificate of District Engineer  

6. Affidavit Regarding Human Trafficking  
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THIS INSTRUMENT PREPARED BY 

AND TO BE RETURNED TO: 

Kristen E. Trucco, Esq.  

Latham, Luna, Eden & Beaudine, LLP 

P.O. Box 3353 

Orlando, Florida 32802 

 

 

 

 

 

SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED 

 

 THIS SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED made as of this ___ day of _____________, 2025 by 

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company (the “Grantor”), whose 

principal address is 3350 Peachtree Road Northeast, Suite 1500, Atlanta, Georgia 30326, to 

TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, a Florida community development 

district (the “Grantee”), whose address is c/o Governmental Management Services – Central Florida, 

LLC, 219 E. Livingston Street, Orlando, Florida 32801. 

 
(Whenever used herein the terms “Grantor” and “Grantee” include all the parties to this instrument and the heirs, legal 

representatives and assigns of individuals, and the successors and assigns of corporations). 

That the Grantor, for and in consideration of the sum of TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS 

($10.00) and other valuable considerations, receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, hereby grants, 

bargains, sells, aliens, remises, releases, conveys and confirms unto the Grantee, all that certain land 

situate in Osceola County, Florida, more particularly described as follows (the “Property”). 

SEE EXHIBIT “A” ATTACHED HERETO AND INCORPORATED HEREIN 

BY REFERENCE. 

TOGETHER WITH all tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances thereto belonging or 

in anywise appertaining. 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, the same in fee simple forever. 

AND the Grantor does hereby covenant with Grantee that the Grantor is lawfully seized of 

said land in fee simple; that the Grantor has good right and lawful authority to sell and convey this 

land; that the Grantor hereby warrants that title to the land is free from all encumbrances except for 

restrictions, covenants, conditions, easements and other matters of record (provided, however, that 

reference thereto shall not serve to re-impose same) and taxes for the year 2025 and subsequent years, 

and that the Grantor will defend title to the land against the lawful claims of all persons claiming by, 

through or under Grantor, but against none other. 

 
NOTE TO RECORDER: This deed is a conveyance of unencumbered property for no consideration and 

is exempt from documentary stamp tax pursuant to Florida Administrative Code Rule 12B-4.014(2)(b). 

Minimum documentary stamp tax of $0.70 is being paid herein. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said Grantor has caused these presents to be executed in its 

name, the day and year first above written. 

Signed, sealed and delivered in our presence: 

 

 

 

 

       

(Signature) 

       

(Print Name) 

Address: ____________________________ 

 

 

       

(Signature) 

       

(Print Name) 

Address: ____________________________ 

 

 

“GRANTOR” 

 

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a 

Michigan limited liability company 

 

     By:  ________________________________ 

      

     Print: Doug Hoffman 

 

     Title: Vice President – Land Development             

     (Central Florida)   

      

     Address: ____________________________      

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF ORANGE 

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [   ] physical presence 

or [  ] online notarization, this _____ day of ____________, 2025, by Doug Hoffman, as Vice 

President – Land Development (Central Florida), of PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan 

limited liability company, on behalf of the limited liability company.  Said person is [  ] personally 

known to me or [  ] has produced ___________________ as identification. 

 

 

      _________________________________________ 

      Notary Public; State of Florida 

                 (SEAL)    Print Name: _______________________________ 

      Comm. Exp.: __________; Comm. No.: _________ 
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

Description of the Property 

 

Tract OS-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract OS-2, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract OS-3, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract R-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-2, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-3, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 
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BILL OF SALE ABSOLUTE AND AGREEMENT 

Tohoqua Community Development District (Tohoqua Phase 4C Plat) 

 

THIS BILL OF SALE ABSOLUTE AND AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made 

as of this _____ day of August, 2025, is given to the TOHOQUA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (hereinafter referred to as the “District”), a local  unit of special-

purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, whose address is c/o 

Governmental Management Services – Central Florida, LLC, 219 E. Livingston Street, Orlando, 

Florida 32801, by PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company 

(hereinafter referred to as the “Developer”), whose address is 3350 Peachtree Road Northeast, 

Suite 150, Atlanta, Georgia 30326. 

 

RECITALS 

 

 WHEREAS, Developer owns certain improvements, equipment and personal property 

located within the boundaries of the District, and the extent, nature and location of such 

improvements and equipment is more fully set forth in  Exhibit “A” attached hereto (collectively, 

the “Improvements”);  

 

 WHEREAS, both Developer and the District find it to be in the best interest of both parties 

for the District to perpetually own, operate and maintain the Improvements, as the District may 

deem reasonable or appropriate, within its sole discretion, for the benefit of the District;  

 

WHEREAS, Developer desires to convey the Improvements to the District to allow such 

perpetual ownership, operation and maintenance, and the District desires to accept such ownership, 

operation and maintenance. 

 

WITNESSETH 

 

 KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that the Developer, for and in consideration 

of the sum of Ten and 00/100 Dollars ($10.00) lawful money of the United States, to it paid by the 

District, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, has granted, bargained, sold, transferred 

and delivered, and by these presents does grant, bargain, sell, transfer, set over and deliver unto 

the District, its executors, administrators and assigns, and the District hereby accepts, all of 

Developer’s right, title and interest in and to the Improvements, to have and to hold the same unto 

the District, its executors, administrators and assigns forever, together with all of the Developer’s 

right and title to any and all contracts, warranties, guarantees, permits, approvals and similar rights 

in favor of or which may have accrued to the Developer from any and all persons, firms, agencies 

or corporations who have performed work or labor or supplied goods, materials or services to or 

for the benefit of or comprising any part of the Improvements to the extent they are assignable, 

together with any related documents, materials, data, letters, and agreements, to have and to hold 

unto District, its successors and assigns, to and for its or their use, forever.  

 

1. Developer agrees that any of the above-referenced contracts, warranties, permits, 

approvals  and guarantees which are not assignable by their terms or in respect of which consents 

to their assignment are required but are not available, shall be held in trust for the District by the 
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Developer (and, if required, performed by the Developer on behalf of the District) and all benefits 

derived thereunder shall be for the benefit of the District.  

 

 2. The Developer represents and warrants to the District that the Developer has good 

and lawful right, title and interest in the Improvements and that the Improvements are free and 

clear of any and all liens and encumbrances, that the Improvements are in good working condition, 

and as of the date hereof, there are no defaults or violations of the terms and conditions of any 

contracts, warranties, permits, approvals and guarantees related to the Improvements. 

 

3. The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by reference. 

 

4. This Bill of Sale may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 

shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

 

.  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Developer has executed this Bill of Sale Absolute and 

Agreement as of the date first above written 

 

             DEVELOPER:  

 

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a 

Michigan limited liability company 

 

            By:________________________________ 

      

            Print: Doug Hoffman 

 

            Title: Vice President – Land Development  

               

                                

 

 

 

  

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF ORANGE  

Sworn to (or affirmed) and subscribed before me by means of [   ] physical presence or [  ] 

online notarization, this _____ day of _____________, 2025, by Doug Hoffman, as Vice President 

– Land Development, of PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan limited liability 

company, on behalf of the limited liability company.  He has produced 

________________________ as identification or is personally known to me. 

 

 

              

      Notary Public; State of Florida 

      Print Name:       

      My Commission Expires:     

My Commission No.:      

 

     (NOTARY SEAL) 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the District has accepted and agreed, and executed this Bill 

of Sale Absolute and Agreement as of the date first above written. 

       

  DISTRICT: 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

  

Print Name: George S. Flint 

Title: Secretary 

 

 

TOHOQUA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 

 

By:      _ 

Name: Andre Vidrine  

Title: Chairman   

  

STATE OF FLORIDA   

      

COUNTY OF ORANGE  

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [ ] physical presence 

or [ ] online notarization, this ______ day of August, 2025, by Andre Vidrine, as Chairman of the 

Board of Supervisors of the TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, and 

was attested to by George S. Flint, as Secretary of the TOHOQUA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, both for and on behalf of the District.  Said person is [ ] 

personally known to me or [ ] have produced ________________ as identification. 

 

              

      Notary Public; State of Florida 

      Print Name:       

      My Commission Expires:     

My Commission No.:      

 

      (NOTARY SEAL)
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

[-Storm Drainage 

-Landscaping, Irrigation 

-Pool, Fitness Center]  

 

The foregoing Improvements are located on the following tracts: 

 

Tract OS-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract OS-2, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract OS-3, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract R-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-2, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-3, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 
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OWNER’S AFFIDAVIT 

Tohoqua Community Development District (Tohoqua Phase 4C Plat) 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA  

COUNTY OF ORANGE 

 

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, personally appeared Doug Hoffman (“Affiant”) 

as Vice President – Land Development, of Pulte Home Company, LLC, a Michigan limited 

liability company, authorized to do business in Florida, whose principal address is 3350 Peachtree 

Road Northeast, Suite 1500, Atlanta, Georgia, 30326 (the “Owner”), who being first duly sworn 

on oath says: 

1. That Affiant knows of his own knowledge that the Owner is the fee simple title 

holder to certain lands located in City of St. Cloud, Florida (the “Property”) and of certain 

infrastructure improvements on the Property (the “Improvements”), as more particularly described 

on Exhibit “A” attached hereto, and that Affiant is the Vice President – Land Development of the 

Owner, is making this Affidavit in that capacity only, and that no recourse shall be made against 

Affiant individually. 

 

2. [That the Property and Improvements, as described in the Warranty Deed and Bill 

of Sale Absolute and Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, are free and clear of all liens and 

encumbrances except for those encumbrances and matters reflected in the title insurance 

commitment issued on ________ by _________________________]. 

 

3. That Affiant knows of no facts by reason of which the title to, or possession of, the 

Property and Improvements might be disputed or questioned, or by reason of which any claim to 

any part of the Property and Improvements might be asserted adversely to Owner. 

 

4. That there have been no liens filed against the Property or the Improvements as a 

result of any labor, materials, equipment or other work authorized by Owner, its employees, or 

agents or of which Owner has actual knowledge, nor any unpaid bills of any nature as a result of 

any labor, materials, equipment or other work authorized by Owner, its employees, or agents or of 

which Owner has actual knowledge either for services of any architect, engineer, or surveyor, or 

for labor or material that may have been placed on the Property or Improvements, either in the 

construction or repair of the Improvements, or otherwise in connection with the Property which 

bills may have been incurred during the last ninety (90) days. 

 

5. That no proceedings in bankruptcy or receivership have ever been instituted by or 

against the Owner, nor has Owner ever made an assignment for the benefit of its creditors. 

 

6. That Affiant knows of no action or proceeding relating to the Property or 

Improvements which is now pending in any state or federal court in the United States affecting the 

Property, nor does Affiant know of any state or federal judgment or any federal lien of any kind 

or nature that now constitutes a lien or charge upon the Property or Improvements.  

 

7. That, except as set forth in the Plat, Affiant knows of no unrecorded easements, 

liens, or assessments for sanitary sewers, streets, roadways, paving, other public utilities or 
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improvements against the Property, nor are there any special assessments or taxes which are not 

shown as existing liens by the public records. 

 

8. That this Affidavit is given for the purposes of inducing the Tohoqua Community 

Development District (the “District”), a Florida community development district and local unit of 

special-purpose government, to accept the Owner’s conveyance of the Property and Improvements 

to the District.  

 

9. That there are no matters pending against Owner that could give rise to any lien(s) 

that could attach to the Property or the Improvements between the effective date of the Plat and 

the recording of the deed of conveyance, and that Affiant shall not execute nor permit the execution 

or recording of any instruments that would adversely affect title of the Property or the ownership 

of the Improvements. 

 10. Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that a transferee of a U.S. real 

property interest must withhold tax if the transferor is a foreign person.  To inform the District, 

Baker & Hostetler LLP (“BHLLP”) and Latham, Luna, Eden & Beaudine, LLP (“LLEB”), that 

withholding of tax is not required upon the disposition of a U.S. real property interest by Owner, 

Owner hereby swears, affirms and certifies the following to District, BHLLP and LLEB that 

Owner: (i) is not a foreign person, foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust or foreign 

estate (as those terms are defined in the Internal Revenue Code and Income Tax Regulations); (ii) 

is not a disregarded entity as defined in Section 1.1445-2(b)(2)(iii); (iii) is not a non-resident alien 

(as such term is defined in the Internal Revenue Code and Income Tax Regulations) for the 

purposes of U.S. income taxation; (iv) has an EIN/Federal Tax Identification Number of 38-

1545089; (v) has a mailing address of 3350 Peachtree Road Northeast, Suite 1500, Atlanta, 

Georgia 30326. Affiant understands that this certification may be disclosed to the Internal Revenue 

Service by Owner and that any false statement contained herein could be punished by fine, 

imprisonment, or both. Affiant understands that the District, BHLLP and LLEB are relying on this 

certification in determining whether withholding is required upon said transfer. 

 

11. That Affiant is familiar with the nature of an oath and with the penalties as provided 

by the laws of the State of Florida for falsely swearing to statements made in an instrument of this 

nature.  Affiant further certifies that he has read the full facts set forth in this Affidavit and 

understands its content and context to be correct in all respects. 

 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]  
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FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT.  

DATED: _________________ , 2025  

Signed, sealed and delivered in our presence: 

 

 

 

       

(Signature) 

       

(Print Name) 

 

       

(Signature) 

       

(Print Name) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a 

Michigan limited liability company 

 

     By:________________________________ 

      

     Print: Doug Hoffman 

 

     Title: Vice President – Land Development  

               

                                

 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF ORANGE  

Sworn to (or affirmed) and subscribed before me by means of [   ] physical presence or [  ] 

online notarization, this _____ day of _____________, 2025, by Doug Hoffman, as Vice President 

– Land Development, of PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan limited liability 

company, on behalf of the limited liability company.  He has produced 

________________________ as identification or is personally known to me. 

 

 

       

______________________________  

Notary Public 

 

Print Name:____________________ 

 

My Commission Expires: _________  

 

My Commission No.: ____________ 
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY AND IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

 

PROPERTY 

 

Tract OS-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract OS-2, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract OS-3, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract R-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-2, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-3, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

IMPROVEMENTS  

 

[-Storm Drainage 

-Landscaping, Irrigation 

-Pool, Fitness Center]  
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AGREEMENT REGARDING TAXES 

Tohoqua Community Development District (Tohoqua Phase 4C Plat) 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT REGARDING TAXES (“Agreement”) is entered into this ____ 

day of                            , 2025, by and between PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan 

limited liability company, whose address is 3350 Peachtree Road Northeast, Suite 1500, Atlanta, 

Georgia 30326 (the “Developer”), and the TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT, a Florida community development district, whose address is c/o Governmental 

Management Services – Central Florida, LLC, 219 E. Livingston Street, Orlando, Florida 32801 

(the “District”). 

 

WITNESSETH 

 

 WHEREAS, Developer is the owner and developer of certain real property located within 

the boundaries of the District, as such property is described on Exhibit “A” attached hereto and 

incorporated herein (the “Property”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, Developer is the owner and developer of infrastructure improvements and 

personal property, made in, on, over, under and through the Property and the land owned by the 

District, as described on Exhibit “A” attached hereto and incorporated herein (the 

“Improvements”); and  

 

WHEREAS, the District is a Florida community development district and local unit of 

special-purpose government created pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 

 

WHEREAS, as part of the ongoing development activities within the boundaries of the 

District, Developer has, simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, conveyed the 

Property and the Improvements to the District by Special Warranty Deed and Bill of Sale Absolute 

and Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, all or a substantial portion of real property already owned by the District is 

either exempt from ad-valorem taxes or has been given a minimal valuation by the Osceola County 

Property Appraiser because of the District’s status as a governmental entity; and 

 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the conveyance of the Property and Improvements from 

Developer to District, Developer and District are desirous of setting forth in this Agreement their 

respective responsibilities with regard to applicable ad-valorem taxes and assessments on the 

Property. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the sum of Ten and 00/100 Dollars ($10.00) 

and other valuable considerations, paid by each party to the other, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which is hereby acknowledged, and in further consideration of the mutual covenants and 

conditions contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 

1. The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by reference. 
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2. Developer hereby represents that all ad-valorem taxes and assessments relating to 

the Property, or any portion thereof, for tax year 2024 and all prior years have been paid in full. 

 

3. Developer hereby agrees to pay in full, and prior to their becoming delinquent, any 

and all ad-valorem taxes and assessments, if any, levied on the Property for the tax year 2025. 

 

4. District shall, within thirty (30) days of receipt, forward to the Developer, at their 

address set forth above and via U.S. mail, any correspondence, notice or bill from Osceola County 

Tax Collector relating to the Property for tax year 2025 that the District actually received in its 

office.  

 

5. Subsequent to the District’s acceptance of the Property and Improvements, and only 

in the event the Property is not conveyed to another governmental entity, the District shall endeavor 

to either obtain an exemption from ad-valorem taxes pertaining to the Property or, in the 

alternative, shall seek a minimal valuation of the Property, from the Osceola County Property 

Appraiser and, subsequent to tax year 2025, Developer shall have no further responsibility with 

regard to ad-valorem taxes or assessments levied against the Property and/or Improvements, as 

applicable. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed 

on their behalf by their duly authorized representatives, all as of the date first set forth above. 

 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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WITNESSES: 

 

 

X ______________________________ 

 

Print: ___________________________ 

 

 

X ______________________________ 

 

Print: ___________________________ 

 

 

 

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan 

limited liability company 

 

By: ___________________________________    

 

Print: Doug Hoffman  

 

Title: Vice President – Land Development  

          (Central Florida)  

                 

 

 

 

 

 

  

    

TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT, a Florida community development 

district 

ATTEST 

 

X _____________________________ By: ___________________________________ 

  

Print: __________________________ Print: Andre Vidrine  

Secretary/Asst. Secretary 

      Title: Chairman  
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY AND IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

 

PROPERTY 

 

Tract OS-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract OS-2, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract OS-3, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract R-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-2, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-3, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

 

IMPROVEMENTS  

 

[-Storm Drainage 

-Landscaping, Irrigation 

-Pool, Fitness Center]  
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CERTIFICATE OF DISTRICT ENGINEER 

Tohoqua Community Development District (Tohoqua Phase 4C Plat) 

 

I, Stephen K. Saha, P.E. of Poulos & Bennett, LLC, a Florida limited liability 

company, authorized to transact business in Florida, and licensed to provide professional 

engineering services to the public in the State of Florida under Florida License No. 76903,with 

offices located at 2602 E. Livingston Street, Orlando, Florida, 32803 (“Poulos”), hereby 

acknowledge and certify the following, to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, to 

be true and correct in all respects: 

 

1. That I, through Poulos, currently serve as District Engineer to the Tohoqua 

Community Development District (the “District”). 

 

2. That the District proposes to accept from Pulte Home Company, LLC, a Michigan 

limited liability company (“Developer”), for ownership, operation and maintenance, certain real 

property described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and incorporated herein (collectively, the 

“Property”), plus infrastructure improvements and personal property, made in, on, over, under 

and through land located within the boundary of the District, as described more completely in 

Exhibit “A” attached hereto and incorporated herein (collectively, the “Improvements”). Any 

real property being conveyed to the District is being transferred at only nominal cost to the 

District, so no review of an appraisal or similar documentation to reasonableness of purchase 

price or other valuation is required or being rendered. 

 

3. That this certification (the “Certification”) is provided in conjunction with, and in 

support of, the District’s approval of the conveyance of the Property and Improvements from the 

Developer to the District and the District’s acceptance of such Property and Improvements.  The 

District will rely on this Certification for such purposes. 

 

4. That the Improvements were constructed, installed, and/or completed, as 

appropriate, in accordance with known plans, specifications, contracts and permits required 

and/or approved by any known governmental authorities, as applicable.  I have reviewed the 

actual cost of the Improvements built or constructed by or at the direction of the Developer and 

the District is paying no more than the actual cost incurred, or the current value thereof, 

whichever is less.  The Property and Improvements are in a condition acceptable for acceptance 

by the District and such conveyance is consistent with the development plans for the District.  

 

5. That the Improvements are properly permitted by the appropriate governmental 

entities, and that copies of the applicable plans, specifications and permits relating to the 

Improvements, if any, that have actually been provided to Osceola Engineering are being held by 

Poulos as records of the District on its behalf. 

 

6. That the actual cost of the Improvements built or constructed by or at the direction 

of the Developer, and the District shall pay no more than the actual cost incurred, or the current 

value thereof, whichever is less, as determined by the District Engineer. 
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SIGNATURE PAGE TO CERTIFICATE OF DISTRICT ENGINEER 
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DATED:  _______________, 2025 

 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      Stephen K. Saha, P.E.    

      State of Florida License No.: 76903 

      on behalf of the company, 

      Poulos & Bennett, LLC  

      2602 East Livingston Street 

      Orlando, Florida 32814 

 

 

 

  

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF ORANGE 

 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [ ] physical presence 

or [ ] online notarization, this _____ day of ___________, 2025 by STEPHEN S. SAHA, P.E. 

of Poulos & Bennett, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, on behalf of said company.  Said 

person is [ ] personally known to me or [ ] has produced a valid driver’s license as identification. 

    

           

         __________________________________ 

       Notary Public; State of Florida 

 

(SEAL)      Print Name: ________________________ 

                                                                  Comm. Exp.: _______________________ 

        Comm. No.: ________________________ 
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

LIST AND DESCRIPTION OF IMPROVEMENTS & EQUIPMENT 

 

[-Storm Drainage 

-Landscaping, Irrigation 

-Pool, Fitness Center]  

 

The foregoing Improvements are located on the following tracts: 

 

Tract OS-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract OS-2, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract OS-3, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract R-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 78, 

Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-1, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-2, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

Tract SWP-3, according to the TOHOQUA – PHASE 4C plat, as recorded in Plat Book 34, Page 

78, Public Records of Osceola County, Florida. 

 

 

 



AFFIDAVIT OF COMPLIANCE WITH ANTI-HUMAN TRAFFICKING LAWS 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA  

 

COUNTY OF ORANGE 

 

In accordance with Section 787.06(13), Florida Statutes, the undersigned, on behalf of PULTE HOME 

COMPANY, LLC (the “Contractor”), hereby attests under penalty of perjury that, the Contractor, to 

the best of my knowledge and reasonable belief, does not use coercion for labor or services as defined 

in Section 787.06, Florida Statutes, entitled “Human Trafficking.” 

The undersigned is authorized to execute this affidavit on behalf of the Contractor. 

 

Date: _______________________    

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC   

 

 

Signed:      

       Name:__________________________ 

Title:___________________________ 

 

 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me by means of ☐ physical presence or ☐ online 

notarization, this ___ day of ____________, 2025, by ________________, as ________________ of 

PULTE  HOME COMPANY, LLC. Said person is (check one) ☐ personally known to me or ☐ has 

produced a valid driver's license as identification. 

 

 

              

[Notary Seal]     Signature of person taking acknowledgment 

      Name (typed, printed or stamped):

 __________________ 

      Title or Rank:       

      Serial number (if any):     
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RESOLUTION 2025-14 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

THE TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT RATIFYING THE DOCUMENTS FOR THE 

CONVEYANCE OF THE PHASE 8A OUTFALL TRACT 

REAL PROPERTY AND IMPROVEMENTS LOCATED 

THEREON FROM PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC TO THE 

TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT; 

RATIFYING THE REVIEW, EXECUTION AND 

ACCEPTANCE OF ALL DOCUMENTS EFFECTUATING 

SUCH CONVEYANCE BY DISTRICT STAFF AND THE 

CHAIRMAN; AUTHORIZING FUTURE ACTION BY 

DISTRICT STAFF AND CHAIRMAN NECESSARY TO 

FINALIZE SUCH CONVEYANCE; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tohoqua Community Development District (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government duly organized and existing under the provisions of the Uniform 

Community Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended (the 

“Act”), for the purpose of, among other things, financing and managing the acquisition, 

construction, maintenance and operation of certain infrastructure within and without the 

boundaries of the premises to be governed by the District;  

WHEREAS, the District has the authority, generally under the Act, and specifically under 

Section 190.012, Florida Statutes, to acquire real property and improvements for, among other 

things, the purposes of operating and maintaining systems, facilities, and basic infrastructure 

within the District;  

WHEREAS, the District has the authority, generally under Florida Law and the Act, and 

specifically under Section 190.011(7)(a), Florida Statutes, to acquire, dispose of any real property, 

dedications or platted reservations in any manner so long as it is in the best interest of the District; 

WHEREAS, Pulte Home Company, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company 

(hereinafter “PULTE”), has requested the transfer and acceptance of real property and 

infrastructure improvements, as more particularly described in the Quit Claim Deed, Bill of Sale 

Absolute and Agreement, Agreement Regarding Taxes, Owner’s Affidavit and Certificate of 

District Engineer, attached hereto as Exhibit “A” (the “Conveyance Documents”);  

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors verbally approved the conveyance described in the 

Conveyance Documents at their Board of Supervisors meeting on May 7, 2025 but desire to ratify 

the Conveyance Documents used to effectuate such conveyance;   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Supervisors of the District 

(the “Board”), as follows: 
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1. Incorporation of Recitals.   The above recitals so stated are true and correct and by 

this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 

2. Ratification of Conveyance Documents Evidencing the Acquisition and Transfer 

of the Real Property and Improvements to the District.  The Board hereby ratifies the Conveyance 

Documents.   

3. Ratification of Prior Actions.  All actions taken by the District Chairman, District 

Manager, District Counsel, District Engineer to effectuate the conveyance described in the 

Conveyance Documents are hereby ratified on behalf of the District. 

4. Authorization of District Staff.  The Chairman, the Vice Chairman, the Secretary, 

any Assistant Secretary and the District Manager of the District, and any authorized designee 

thereof (collectively, the "District Officers"), District Counsel, and the District Engineer are hereby 

authorized and directed to take any additional actions necessary to effectuate the conveyance 

described in the Conveyance Documents.    

 5. Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Resolution shall 

be held to be invalid or ineffective for any reason, the remainder of this Resolution shall continue 

in full force and effect, it being expressly hereby found and declared that the remainder of this 

Resolution would have been adopted despite the invalidity or ineffectiveness of such section, 

paragraph, clause or provision. 

6. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

 

[Continues on the Following Pages] 
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

CONVEYANCE DOCUMENTS  

1. Quit Claim Deed  

2. Bill of Sale Absolute and Agreement to the District 

3. Owner’s Affidavit  

4. Agreement Regarding Taxes 

5. Certificate of District Engineer  

6. Affidavit Regarding Human Trafficking  
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BILL OF SALE ABSOLUTE AND AGREEMENT 

Tohoqua Community Development District – Outfall Tract  

(Tohoqua Phase 8A Plat) 

 

THIS BILL OF SALE ABSOLUTE AND AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made 

as of this _____ day of August, 2025, is given to the TOHOQUA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (hereinafter referred to as the “District”), a local  unit of special-

purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, whose address is c/o 

Governmental Management Services – Central Florida, LLC, 219 E. Livingston Street, Orlando, 

Florida 32801, by PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company 

(hereinafter referred to as the “Developer”), whose address is 3350 Peachtree Road Northeast, 

Suite 150, Atlanta, Georgia 30326. 

 

RECITALS 

 

 WHEREAS, the Developer has constructed certain infrastructure improvements in Phase 

8A of the development located in the District’s boundary, including a certain outfall structure 

described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (the “Improvements”);  

 

 WHEREAS, both Developer and the District find it to be in the best interest of both parties 

for the District to perpetually own, operate and maintain the Improvements, as the District may 

deem reasonable or appropriate, within its sole discretion, for the benefit of the District;  

 

WHEREAS, Developer desires to convey the Improvements to the District to allow such 

perpetual ownership, operation and maintenance, and the District desires to accept such ownership, 

operation and maintenance. 

 

WITNESSETH 

 

 KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that the Developer, for and in consideration 

of the sum of Ten and 00/100 Dollars ($10.00) lawful money of the United States, to it paid by the 

District, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, has granted, bargained, sold, transferred 

and delivered, and by these presents does grant, bargain, sell, transfer, set over and deliver unto 

the District, its executors, administrators and assigns, and the District hereby accepts, all of 

Developer’s right, title and interest in and to the Improvements, to have and to hold the same unto 

the District, its executors, administrators and assigns forever, together with all of the Developer’s 

right and title to any and all contracts, warranties, guarantees, permits, approvals and similar rights 

in favor of or which may have accrued to the Developer from any and all persons, firms, agencies 

or corporations who have performed work or labor or supplied goods, materials or services to or 

for the benefit of or comprising any part of the Improvements to the extent they are assignable, 

together with any related documents, materials, data, letters, and agreements, to have and to hold 

unto District, its successors and assigns, to and for its or their use, forever.  

 

1. Developer agrees that any of the above-referenced contracts, warranties, permits, 

approvals  and guarantees which are not assignable by their terms or in respect of which consents 

to their assignment are required but are not available, shall be held in trust for the District by the 



2 
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Developer (and, if required, performed by the Developer on behalf of the District) and all benefits 

derived thereunder shall be for the benefit of the District.  

 

 2. The Developer represents and warrants to the District that the Developer has good 

and lawful right, title and interest in the Improvements and that the Improvements are free and 

clear of any and all liens and encumbrances, that the Improvements are in good working condition, 

and as of the date hereof, there are no defaults or violations of the terms and conditions of any 

contracts, warranties, permits, approvals and guarantees related to the Improvements. 

 

3. The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by reference. 

 

4. This Bill of Sale may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 

shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

 

.  

 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
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COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO  

BILL OF SALE ABSOLUTE AND AGREEMENT 

Tohoqua Community Development District – Outfall Tract  

(Tohoqua Phase 8A Plat) 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Developer has executed this Bill of Sale Absolute and 

Agreement as of the date first above written 

 

             DEVELOPER:  

 

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a 

Michigan limited liability company 

 

            By:________________________________ 

      

            Print: Doug Hoffman 

 

            Title: Vice President – Land Development  

               

                                

 

 

 

  

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF ORANGE  

Sworn to (or affirmed) and subscribed before me by means of [   ] physical presence or [  ] 

online notarization, this _____ day of _____________, 2025, by Doug Hoffman, as Vice President 

– Land Development, of PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan limited liability 

company, on behalf of the limited liability company.  He has produced 

________________________ as identification or is personally known to me. 

 

 

              

      Notary Public; State of Florida 

      Print Name:       

      My Commission Expires:     

My Commission No.:      

 

     (NOTARY SEAL) 
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COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO  

BILL OF SALE ABSOLUTE AND AGREEMENT 

Tohoqua Community Development District – Outfall Tract  

(Tohoqua Phase 8A Plat) 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the District has accepted and agreed, and executed this Bill 

of Sale Absolute and Agreement as of the date first above written. 

       

  DISTRICT: 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

  

Print Name: George S. Flint 

Title: Secretary 

 

 

TOHOQUA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 

 

By:      _ 

Name: Andre Vidrine  

Title: Chairman   

  

STATE OF FLORIDA   

      

COUNTY OF ORANGE  

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [ ] physical presence 

or [ ] online notarization, this ______ day of August, 2025, by Andre Vidrine, as Chairman of the 

Board of Supervisors of the TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, and 

was attested to by George S. Flint, as Secretary of the TOHOQUA COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, both for and on behalf of the District.  Said person is [ ] 

personally known to me or [ ] have produced ________________ as identification. 

 

              

      Notary Public; State of Florida 

      Print Name:       

      My Commission Expires:     

My Commission No.:      

 

      (NOTARY SEAL)
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

[____________________________________________________________________________] 

 

 

The foregoing Improvements (“Improvements”) are located on the land described as follows: 

 

See attached legal description.  
 

 

 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

A parcel of land being a portion of Lot 7, Block 21, a portion of Lots 9 and 10, Block 26 and a portion of 
Lot 7, Block 27, and a portion of platted Right of Way, FLORIDA DRAINED LAND COMPANY'S 
SUBDIVISION NO. I, according to the plat thereof, as recorded in Plat Book B, Pages 65 & 66 of the 
Public Records of Osceola County, Florida, being more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at the Westerly most comer of Tract SWP-1, TOHOQUA- PHASE 8A, according to the plat 
thereof, as described in Plat Book 36, Pages 86 through 92, of the Public Records of Osceola County, 
Florida; thence run N53°06'08"W, a distance of 516.63 feet; thence run N73°37'49"W, a distance of 231.95 
feet to a point on the Easterly Maintained Right of Way Line of Macy Island Road, per County Road Map 
Book I, Pages 82-89; thence run N35°3 l '35"E, along said Easterly Maintained Right of Way line a distance 
of 20.68 feet; thence departing said Easterly Right of Way line S73°38'20"E, a distance of 228.63 feet; 
thence run S53°06'39"E, a distance of 549.77 feet to a point on the Northern line of aforesaid Tract SWP-
1; thence run N86°42'44"W, along said Northern line a distance of 35.46 feet to the POINT OF 
BEGINNING. 

SKETCH OF DESCRIPTION 
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OWNER’S AFFIDAVIT 

Tohoqua Community Development District – Outfall Tract  

(Tohoqua Phase 8A Plat) 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA  

COUNTY OF ORANGE 

 

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, personally appeared Doug Hoffman (“Affiant”) 

as Vice President – Land Development, of Pulte Home Company, LLC, a Michigan limited 

liability company, authorized to do business in Florida, whose principal address is 3350 Peachtree 

Road Northeast, Suite 1500, Atlanta, Georgia, 30326 (the “Owner”), who being first duly sworn 

on oath says: 

1. That Affiant knows of his own knowledge that the Owner is the fee simple title 

holder to certain lands located in City of St. Cloud, Florida (the “Property”) and of certain 

infrastructure improvements on the Property (the “Improvements”), as more particularly described 

on Exhibit “A” attached hereto, and that Affiant is the Vice President – Land Development of the 

Owner, is making this Affidavit in that capacity only, and that no recourse shall be made against 

Affiant individually. 

 

2. [That the Property and Improvements, as described in the Warranty Deed and Bill 

of Sale Absolute and Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, are free and clear of all liens and 

encumbrances except for those encumbrances and matters reflected in the title insurance 

commitment issued on ________ by _________________________]. 

 

3. That Affiant knows of no facts by reason of which the title to, or possession of, the 

Property and Improvements might be disputed or questioned, or by reason of which any claim to 

any part of the Property and Improvements might be asserted adversely to Owner. 

 

4. That there have been no liens filed against the Property or the Improvements as a 

result of any labor, materials, equipment or other work authorized by Owner, its employees, or 

agents or of which Owner has actual knowledge, nor any unpaid bills of any nature as a result of 

any labor, materials, equipment or other work authorized by Owner, its employees, or agents or of 

which Owner has actual knowledge either for services of any architect, engineer, or surveyor, or 

for labor or material that may have been placed on the Property or Improvements, either in the 

construction or repair of the Improvements, or otherwise in connection with the Property which 

bills may have been incurred during the last ninety (90) days. 

 

5. That no proceedings in bankruptcy or receivership have ever been instituted by or 

against the Owner, nor has Owner ever made an assignment for the benefit of its creditors. 

 

6. That Affiant knows of no action or proceeding relating to the Property or 

Improvements which is now pending in any state or federal court in the United States affecting the 

Property, nor does Affiant know of any state or federal judgment or any federal lien of any kind 

or nature that now constitutes a lien or charge upon the Property or Improvements.  
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7. That, except as set forth in the Plat, Affiant knows of no unrecorded easements, 

liens, or assessments for sanitary sewers, streets, roadways, paving, other public utilities or 

improvements against the Property, nor are there any special assessments or taxes which are not 

shown as existing liens by the public records. 

 

8. That this Affidavit is given for the purposes of inducing the Tohoqua Community 

Development District (the “District”), a Florida community development district and local unit of 

special-purpose government, to accept the Owner’s conveyance of the Property and Improvements 

to the District.  

 

9. That there are no matters pending against Owner that could give rise to any lien(s) 

that could attach to the Property or the Improvements between the effective date of the Plat and 

the recording of the deed of conveyance, and that Affiant shall not execute nor permit the execution 

or recording of any instruments that would adversely affect title of the Property or the ownership 

of the Improvements. 

 10. Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that a transferee of a U.S. real 

property interest must withhold tax if the transferor is a foreign person.  To inform the District, 

Baker & Hostetler LLP (“BHLLP”) and Latham, Luna, Eden & Beaudine, LLP (“LLEB”), that 

withholding of tax is not required upon the disposition of a U.S. real property interest by Owner, 

Owner hereby swears, affirms and certifies the following to District, BHLLP and LLEB that 

Owner: (i) is not a foreign person, foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust or foreign 

estate (as those terms are defined in the Internal Revenue Code and Income Tax Regulations); (ii) 

is not a disregarded entity as defined in Section 1.1445-2(b)(2)(iii); (iii) is not a non-resident alien 

(as such term is defined in the Internal Revenue Code and Income Tax Regulations) for the 

purposes of U.S. income taxation; (iv) has an EIN/Federal Tax Identification Number of 38-

1545089; (v) has a mailing address of 3350 Peachtree Road Northeast, Suite 1500, Atlanta, 

Georgia 30326. Affiant understands that this certification may be disclosed to the Internal Revenue 

Service by Owner and that any false statement contained herein could be punished by fine, 

imprisonment, or both. Affiant understands that the District, BHLLP and LLEB are relying on this 

certification in determining whether withholding is required upon said transfer. 

 

11. That Affiant is familiar with the nature of an oath and with the penalties as provided 

by the laws of the State of Florida for falsely swearing to statements made in an instrument of this 

nature.  Affiant further certifies that he has read the full facts set forth in this Affidavit and 

understands its content and context to be correct in all respects. 

 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]  
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FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT.  

DATED: _________________ , 2025  

Signed, sealed and delivered in our presence: 

 

 

 

       

(Signature) 

       

(Print Name) 

 

       

(Signature) 

       

(Print Name) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a 

Michigan limited liability company 

 

     By:________________________________ 

      

     Print: Doug Hoffman 

 

     Title: Vice President – Land Development  

               

                                

 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF ORANGE  

Sworn to (or affirmed) and subscribed before me by means of [   ] physical presence or [  ] 

online notarization, this _____ day of _____________, 2025, by Doug Hoffman, as Vice President 

– Land Development, of PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan limited liability 

company, on behalf of the limited liability company.  He has produced 

________________________ as identification or is personally known to me. 

 

 

       

______________________________  

Notary Public 

 

Print Name:____________________ 

 

My Commission Expires: _________  

 

My Commission No.: ____________ 
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY AND IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

 

PROPERTY 

 

See attached legal description.  

 

IMPROVEMENTS  

 

 

[__________________________________________________________________________] 

 

 

 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

A parcel of land being a portion of Lot 7, Block 21, a portion of Lots 9 and 10, Block 26 and a portion of 
Lot 7, Block 27, and a portion of platted Right of Way, FLORIDA DRAINED LAND COMPANY'S 
SUBDIVISION NO. I, according to the plat thereof, as recorded in Plat Book B, Pages 65 & 66 of the 
Public Records of Osceola County, Florida, being more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at the Westerly most comer of Tract SWP-1, TOHOQUA- PHASE 8A, according to the plat 
thereof, as described in Plat Book 36, Pages 86 through 92, of the Public Records of Osceola County, 
Florida; thence run N53°06'08"W, a distance of 516.63 feet; thence run N73°37'49"W, a distance of 231.95 
feet to a point on the Easterly Maintained Right of Way Line of Macy Island Road, per County Road Map 
Book I, Pages 82-89; thence run N35°3 l '35"E, along said Easterly Maintained Right of Way line a distance 
of 20.68 feet; thence departing said Easterly Right of Way line S73°38'20"E, a distance of 228.63 feet; 
thence run S53°06'39"E, a distance of 549.77 feet to a point on the Northern line of aforesaid Tract SWP-
1; thence run N86°42'44"W, along said Northern line a distance of 35.46 feet to the POINT OF 
BEGINNING. 

SKETCH OF DESCRIPTION 
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AGREEMENT REGARDING TAXES 

Tohoqua Community Development District – Outfall Tract  

(Tohoqua Phase 8A Plat) 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT REGARDING TAXES (“Agreement”) is entered into this ____ 

day of                            , 2025, by and between PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan 

limited liability company, whose address is 3350 Peachtree Road Northeast, Suite 1500, Atlanta, 

Georgia 30326 (the “Developer”), and the TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT, a Florida community development district, whose address is c/o Governmental 

Management Services – Central Florida, LLC, 219 E. Livingston Street, Orlando, Florida 32801 

(the “District”). 

 

WITNESSETH 

 

 WHEREAS, Developer is the owner and developer of certain real property located within 

the boundaries of the District, as such property is described on Exhibit “A” attached hereto and 

incorporated herein (the “Property”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, Developer is the owner and developer of infrastructure improvements and 

personal property, made in, on, over, under and through the Property and the land owned by the 

District, as described on Exhibit “A” attached hereto and incorporated herein (the 

“Improvements”); and  

 

WHEREAS, the District is a Florida community development district and local unit of 

special-purpose government created pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 

 

WHEREAS, as part of the ongoing development activities within the boundaries of the 

District, Developer has, simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, conveyed the 

Property and the Improvements to the District by Warranty Deed and Bill of Sale Absolute and 

Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, all or a substantial portion of real property already owned by the District is 

either exempt from ad-valorem taxes or has been given a minimal valuation by the Osceola County 

Property Appraiser because of the District’s status as a governmental entity; and 

 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the conveyance of the Property and Improvements from 

Developer to District, Developer and District are desirous of setting forth in this Agreement their 

respective responsibilities with regard to applicable ad-valorem taxes and assessments on the 

Property. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the sum of Ten and 00/100 Dollars ($10.00) 

and other valuable considerations, paid by each party to the other, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which is hereby acknowledged, and in further consideration of the mutual covenants and 

conditions contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 

1. The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by reference. 
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2. Developer hereby represents that all ad-valorem taxes and assessments relating to 

the Property, or any portion thereof, for tax year 2024 and all prior years have been paid in full. 

 

3. Developer hereby agrees to pay in full, and prior to their becoming delinquent, any 

and all ad-valorem taxes and assessments, if any, levied on the Property for the tax year 2025. 

 

4. District shall, within thirty (30) days of receipt, forward to the Developer, at their 

address set forth above and via U.S. mail, any correspondence, notice or bill from Osceola County 

Tax Collector relating to the Property for tax year 2025 that the District actually received in its 

office.  

 

5. Subsequent to the District’s acceptance of the Property and Improvements, and only 

in the event the Property is not conveyed to another governmental entity, the District shall endeavor 

to either obtain an exemption from ad-valorem taxes pertaining to the Property or, in the 

alternative, shall seek a minimal valuation of the Property, from the Osceola County Property 

Appraiser and, subsequent to tax year 2025, Developer shall have no further responsibility with 

regard to ad-valorem taxes or assessments levied against the Property and/or Improvements, as 

applicable. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed 

on their behalf by their duly authorized representatives, all as of the date first set forth above. 

 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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SIGNATURE PAGE TO AGREEMENT REGARDING TAXES 
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(Tohoqua Phase 8A Plat) 

 

 

 

WITNESSES: 

 

 

X ______________________________ 

 

Print: ___________________________ 

 

 

X ______________________________ 

 

Print: ___________________________ 

 

 

 

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Michigan 

limited liability company 

 

By: ___________________________________    

 

Print: Doug Hoffman  

 

Title: Vice President – Land Development  

          (Central Florida)  

                 

 

 

 

 

 

  

    

TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT, a Florida community development 

district 

ATTEST 

 

X _____________________________ By: ___________________________________ 

  

Print: __________________________ Print: Andre Vidrine  

Secretary/Asst. Secretary 

      Title: Chairman  
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY AND IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

 

PROPERTY 

 

See attached legal description.  

 

IMPROVEMENTS  

 

 

[__________________________________________________________________________] 

 

 

 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

A parcel of land being a portion of Lot 7, Block 21, a portion of Lots 9 and 10, Block 26 and a portion of 
Lot 7, Block 27, and a portion of platted Right of Way, FLORIDA DRAINED LAND COMPANY'S 
SUBDIVISION NO. I, according to the plat thereof, as recorded in Plat Book B, Pages 65 & 66 of the 
Public Records of Osceola County, Florida, being more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at the Westerly most comer of Tract SWP-1, TOHOQUA- PHASE 8A, according to the plat 
thereof, as described in Plat Book 36, Pages 86 through 92, of the Public Records of Osceola County, 
Florida; thence run N53°06'08"W, a distance of 516.63 feet; thence run N73°37'49"W, a distance of 231.95 
feet to a point on the Easterly Maintained Right of Way Line of Macy Island Road, per County Road Map 
Book I, Pages 82-89; thence run N35°3 l '35"E, along said Easterly Maintained Right of Way line a distance 
of 20.68 feet; thence departing said Easterly Right of Way line S73°38'20"E, a distance of 228.63 feet; 
thence run S53°06'39"E, a distance of 549.77 feet to a point on the Northern line of aforesaid Tract SWP-
1; thence run N86°42'44"W, along said Northern line a distance of 35.46 feet to the POINT OF 
BEGINNING. 

SKETCH OF DESCRIPTION 
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CERTIFICATE OF DISTRICT ENGINEER 

Tohoqua Community Development District – Outfall Tract  

(Tohoqua Phase 8A Plat) 

 
I, Stephen K. Saha, P.E. of Poulos & Bennett, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, 

authorized to transact business in Florida, and licensed to provide professional engineering services 

to the public in the State of Florida under Florida License No. 76903,with offices located at 2602 E. 

Livingston Street, Orlando, Florida, 32803 (“Poulos”), hereby acknowledge and certify the 

following, to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, to be true and correct in all respects: 

 

1. That I, through Poulos, currently serve as District Engineer to the Tohoqua 

Community Development District (the “District”). 

 

2. That the District proposes to accept from Pulte Home Company, LLC, a Michigan 

limited liability company (“Developer”), for ownership, operation and maintenance, certain real 

property described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and incorporated herein (collectively, the 

“Property”), plus infrastructure improvements and personal property, made in, on, over, under and 

through the Property and the land owned by the District, as described more completely in Exhibit 

“A” attached hereto and incorporated herein (collectively, the “Improvements”), and subsequently 

convey such real property and improvements to the District. Any real property being conveyed to the 

District is being transferred at only nominal cost to the District, so no review of an appraisal or 

similar documentation to reasonableness of purchase price or other valuation is required or being 

rendered. 

 

3. That this certification (the “Certification”) is provided in conjunction with, and in 

support of, the District’s approval of the conveyance of the Property and Improvements from the 

Developer to the District.  The District will rely on this Certification for such purposes. 

 

4. That the Improvements were constructed, installed, and/or completed, as appropriate, 

in accordance with known plans, specifications, contracts and permits required and/or approved by 

any known governmental authorities, as applicable.  I have reviewed the actual cost of the 

Improvements built or constructed by or at the direction of the Developer and the District is paying 

no more than the actual cost incurred, or the current value thereof, whichever is less.  The Property 

and Improvements are in a condition acceptable for acceptance by the District.  

 

5. That the Improvements are properly permitted by the appropriate governmental 

entities, and that copies of the applicable plans, specifications and permits relating to the 

Improvements, if any, that have actually been provided to Poulos are being held by Poulos as records 

of the District on its behalf. 

 

6. That the actual cost of the Improvements built or constructed by or at the direction of 

the Developer, and the District shall pay no more than the actual cost incurred, or the current value 

thereof, whichever is less, as determined by the District Engineer. 

 

[Signature page to follow.] 
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SIGNATURE PAGE TO CERTIFICATE OF DISTRICT ENGINEER 

Tohoqua Community Development District – Outfall Tract  

(Tohoqua Phase 8A Plat) 

 

 

 

 

DATED:  _______________, 2025 

 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      Stephen K. Saha, P.E.    

      State of Florida License No.: 76903 

      on behalf of the company, 

      Poulos & Bennett, LLC  

      2602 East Livingston Street 

      Orlando, Florida 32814 

 

 

 

  

 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF ORANGE 

 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of [ ] physical presence 

or [ ] online notarization, this _____ day of ___________, 2025 by STEPHEN S. SAHA, P.E. 

of Poulos & Bennett, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, on behalf of said company.  Said 

person is [ ] personally known to me or [ ] has produced a valid driver’s license as identification. 

    

           

         __________________________________ 

       Notary Public; State of Florida 

 

(SEAL)      Print Name: ________________________ 

                                                                  Comm. Exp.: _______________________ 

        Comm. No.: ________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Certificate of District Engineer – Outfall Tract (Tohoqua Phase 8A Plat) 

Tohoqua Community Development District    

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY AND IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

 

PROPERTY 

 

See attached legal description.  

 

IMPROVEMENTS  

 

 

[__________________________________________________________________________] 

 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

A parcel of land being a portion of Lot 7, Block 21, a portion of Lots 9 and 10, Block 26 and a portion of 
Lot 7, Block 27, and a portion of platted Right of Way, FLORIDA DRAINED LAND COMPANY'S 
SUBDIVISION NO. I, according to the plat thereof, as recorded in Plat Book B, Pages 65 & 66 of the 
Public Records of Osceola County, Florida, being more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at the Westerly most comer of Tract SWP-1, TOHOQUA- PHASE 8A, according to the plat 
thereof, as described in Plat Book 36, Pages 86 through 92, of the Public Records of Osceola County, 
Florida; thence run N53°06'08"W, a distance of 516.63 feet; thence run N73°37'49"W, a distance of 231.95 
feet to a point on the Easterly Maintained Right of Way Line of Macy Island Road, per County Road Map 
Book I, Pages 82-89; thence run N35°3 l '35"E, along said Easterly Maintained Right of Way line a distance 
of 20.68 feet; thence departing said Easterly Right of Way line S73°38'20"E, a distance of 228.63 feet; 
thence run S53°06'39"E, a distance of 549.77 feet to a point on the Northern line of aforesaid Tract SWP-
1; thence run N86°42'44"W, along said Northern line a distance of 35.46 feet to the POINT OF 
BEGINNING. 

SKETCH OF DESCRIPTION 
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AFFIDAVIT OF COMPLIANCE WITH ANTI-HUMAN TRAFFICKING LAWS 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA  

 

COUNTY OF ORANGE 

 

In accordance with Section 787.06(13), Florida Statutes, the undersigned, on behalf of PULTE HOME 

COMPANY, LLC (the “Contractor”), hereby attests under penalty of perjury that, the Contractor, to 

the best of my knowledge and reasonable belief, does not use coercion for labor or services as defined 

in Section 787.06, Florida Statutes, entitled “Human Trafficking.” 

The undersigned is authorized to execute this affidavit on behalf of the Contractor. 

 

Date: _______________________    

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC   

 

 

Signed:      

       Name:__________________________ 

Title:___________________________ 

 

 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me by means of ☐ physical presence or ☐ online 

notarization, this ___ day of ____________, 2025, by ________________, as ________________ of 

PULTE  HOME COMPANY, LLC. Said person is (check one) ☐ personally known to me or ☐ has 

produced a valid driver's license as identification. 

 

 

              

[Notary Seal]     Signature of person taking acknowledgment 

      Name (typed, printed or stamped):

 __________________ 

      Title or Rank:       

      Serial number (if any):     
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Board of Supervisors  
Tohoqua Community Development District 
City of St. Cloud, Florida 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinions  

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and each major 
fund of Tohoqua Community Development District, City of St. Cloud, Florida (“District”) as of and for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, and each major fund of the District as of 
September 30, 2024, and the respective changes in financial position, thereof for the fiscal year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

The District’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material 
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:  

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related 
matters that we identified during the audit.  
Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is 
the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted 
of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  
Other Information Included in the Financial Report 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the financial report. The other information 
comprises the information for compliance with Section 218.39(3)(c), Florida Statutes but does not include 
the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the financial statements do not 
cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. In 
connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial 
statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are 
required to describe it in our report.  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 9, 2025, 
on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
District’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

June 9, 2025 
 



 

 
3 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
The management of the Tohoqua Community Development District, City of St. Cloud, Florida (“District”) 
would like to offer the readers of the District’s financial statements this discussion and analysis of the 
District’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024.  Please read it in conjunction 
with the District’s Independent Auditor’s Report, basic financial statements, accompanying notes and 
supplementary information to the basic financial statements.   
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

• The assets of the District exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year 
resulting in a net position balance of $1,215,385. 
 

• The change in the District’s total net position in comparison with the prior fiscal year was $22,795, 
an increase. The key components of the District’s net position and change in net position are 
reflected in the table in the government-wide financial analysis section.  

 
• At September 30, 2024, the District’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 

balances of $7,401,033, an increase of $3,868,827 in comparison with the prior fiscal year.  The 
total fund balance is restricted for debt service and capital projects, non-spendable for prepaid 
items, assigned to capital reserves, and the remainder is unassigned fund balance which is 
available for spending at the District’s discretion.   
 

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as the introduction to the District’s financial 
statements.  The District’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-
wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This 
report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements 
themselves. 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the 
District’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all the District’s assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources with the residual amount being reported as net 
position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the 
financial position of the District is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying 
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and 
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal 
periods. 
 
The government-wide financial statements include all governmental activities that are principally 
supported by assessments.  The District does not have any business-type activities. The governmental 
activities of the District include the general government (management) maintenance and recreation 
functions. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The District, like other state and local governments, uses 
fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. The 
District has one fund category: governmental funds. 
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OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
  
Governmental Funds 
 
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the government-wide financial 
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable 
resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.  Such 
information may be useful in evaluating a District’s near-term financing requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the District’s near-term financing decisions. 
Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balance provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The District maintains three governmental funds for external reporting. Information is presented 
separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the general fund, debt service fund and capital projects 
fund, all of which are considered major funds.  
 
The District adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund.  A budgetary comparison schedule 
has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with the budget. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in 
the basic financial statements. 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS  
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of an entity’s financial position. In 
the case of the District, assets exceeded assets at the close of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024.  
 
Key components of the District’s net position are reflected in the following table: 

 2024 2023
Current and other assets 7,418,232$      3,598,453$       
Capital assets, net of depreciation 12,031,268      11,264,923       

Total assets 19,449,500      14,863,376       
Current liabilities 359,118           289,816           
Long-term liabilities 17,874,997      13,380,970       

Total liabilities 18,234,115      13,670,786       
Net position

Net investment in capital assets (115,769)          121,371           
Restricted 789,295           652,027           
Unrestricted 541,859           419,192           

Total net position 1,215,385$      1,192,590$       

NET POSITION
SEPTEMBER 30,

 
The District’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g. land, land improvements, and 
infrastructure) less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding.  These assets 
are used to provide services to residents; consequently, these assets are not available for future 
spending.  Although the District’s investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be 
noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital 
assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.   
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued) 
 
The restricted portion of the District’s net position represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used.  The remaining balance of unrestricted net position may be used to 
meet the District’s other obligations. 
 
The District’s net position increased during the most recent fiscal year. The majority of the increase 
represents the extent to which ongoing program revenues exceeded the cost of operations. 
 
Key elements of the change in net position are reflected in the following table: 

 2024 2023
Revenues:
Program revenues

Charges for services 2,062,492$      1,732,061$       
Operating grants and contributions 59,122            38,278             
Capital grants and contributions 125,023           35,785             

General revenues
Unrestricted investment earnings -                  -                  
Miscellaneous 12,420            18,088             

Total revenues 2,259,057        1,824,212         
Expenses:

General government 164,052           146,594           
Maintenance and operations 795,012           1,081,330         
Recreation 264,987           -                  
Interest 699,811           459,381           
Bond issue costs 312,400           603,750           

Total expenses 2,236,262        2,291,055         
Change in net position 22,795            (466,843)          
Net position - beginning 1,192,590        1,659,433         
Net position - ending 1,215,385$      1,192,590$       

CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR END SEPTEMBER 30,

 
As noted above and in the statement of activities, the cost of all governmental activities during the fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2024 was $2,236,262. The costs of the District’s activities were primarily 
funded by program revenues. Program revenues of the District are comprised of assessments, Developer 
contributions, investment income, and miscellaneous revenue in the current fiscal year. The increase in 
revenues is due to an increase in assessments and interest income. The slight decrease in expenses is 
the due to the decrease in bond issue costs during the current fiscal year. 
 
GENERAL BUDGETING HIGHLIGHTS 
 
An operating budget was adopted and maintained by the governing board for the District pursuant to the 
requirements of Florida Statutes. The budget is adopted using the same basis of accounting that is used 
in preparation of the fund financial statements. The legal level of budgetary control, the level at which 
expenditures may not exceed budget, is in the aggregate. Any budget amendments that increase the 
aggregate budgeted appropriations must be approved by the Board of Supervisors. Actual general fund 
expenditures did not exceed appropriations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024.    
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CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
At September 30, 2024, the District had $12,031,268 invested in capital assets for its governmental 
activities. No depreciation has been taken as the infrastructure improvements are under construction. 
More detailed information about the District’s capital assets is presented in the notes of the financial 
statements. 
 
Capital Debt  
 
At September 30, 2024, the District had $17,845,000 in Bonds outstanding for its governmental activities. 
More detailed information about the District’s capital debt is presented in the notes of the financial 
statements. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND OTHER EVENTS 
 
It is anticipated that the general operations of the District will continue to increase as the District is built 
out. 
 
CONTACTING THE DISTRICT’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
  
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with 
a general overview of the District’s finances and to demonstrate the District’s accountability for the 
financial resources it manages and the stewardship of the facilities it maintains.  If you have questions 
about this report or need additional financial information, contact the Tohoqua Community Development 
District’s Finance Department at 219 East Livingston Street, Orlando FL 32801. 
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TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF ST. CLOUD, FLORIDA  
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 
 
 

ASSETS
Cash 492,194$        
Assessments receivable 13,235
Due from Developer 2,940              
Prepaid items 56,874
Restricted assets:

Investments 6,852,989       
Capital assets:

Nondepreciable 12,031,268      
Total assets 19,449,500      

LIABILITIES  
Accounts payable 17,199            
Accrued interest payable 341,919
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 310,000          
Due in more than one year 17,564,997

Total liabilities 18,234,115      

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets (115,769)         
Restricted for debt service 789,295
Unrestricted 541,859          

Total net position 1,215,385$      

Governmental 
Activities

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See notes to the financial statements 
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TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF ST. CLOUD, FLORIDA 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 
 
 
 

Charges
for

Functions/Programs Expenses Services
Primary government:

Governmental activities:
General government 164,052$       164,052$    13,788$          -$            13,788$           
Maintenance and operations 795,012        1,140,437   -                 125,023       470,448           
Recreation 264,987        -            -                 -              (264,987)          
Interest on long-term debt 699,811        758,003     45,334           -              103,526           
Bond issue costs 312,400        -            -                 -              (312,400)          

Total governmental activities 2,236,262      2,062,492   59,122           125,023       10,375             

General revenues:
Miscellaneous 12,420             
Unrestricted investment earnings -                  

         Total general revenues 12,420             
   Change in net position 22,795             
   Net position - beginning 1,192,590         
   Net position - ending 1,215,385$       

Program Revenues
Operating 

Grants and 
Contributions

Capital Grants 
and 

Contributions
Governmental 

Activities

Net (Expense) 
Revenue and 

Changes in Net 
Position

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

See notes to the financial statements 
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TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF ST. CLOUD, FLORIDA 

BALANCE SHEET 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 
 
 

General
ASSETS
Cash 465,151$      -$             27,043$        492,194$     
Investments -               1,125,029 5,727,960 6,852,989    
Assessments receivable 7,050 6,185 -               13,235         
Due from Developer 2,940 -               -               2,940          
Prepaid items 56,874 -               -               56,874         

Total assets 532,015$      1,131,214$   5,755,003$   7,418,232$  

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable 17,199$        -$             -$             17,199$       
Total liabilities 17,199          -               -               17,199         

Fund balances:
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 56,874          -               -               56,874         
Restricted for:

Debt service -               1,131,214     -               1,131,214    
Capital projects -               -               5,727,960     5,727,960    

Assigned to:
Capital reserves -               -               27,043          27,043         

Unassigned: 457,942        -               -               457,942       
Total fund balances 514,816        1,131,214     5,755,003     7,401,033    

Total liabilities and fund balances 532,015$      1,131,214$   5,755,003$   7,418,232$  

Major Funds Total 
Governmental 

FundsDebt Service
Capital 

Projects

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
See notes to the financial statements 
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TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF ST. CLOUD, FLORIDA 

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 
 
 

Total fund balances - governmental funds 7,401,033$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of 
net position are different because:

Cost of capital assets 12,031,268    
Accumulated depreciation -               12,031,268    

Accrued interest payable (341,919)       
Original issue discount/premium (29,997)         
Bonds payable (17,845,000)  (18,216,916)  

Net position of governmental activities 1,215,385$    

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported as assets in the
governmental funds. The statement of net position includes
those capital assets, net of any accumulated depreciation, in
the net position of the government as a whole.

Liabilities not due and payable from current available resources 
are not reported as liabilities in the governmental fund
statements. All liabilities, both current and long-term, are
reported in the government-wide financial statements.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

See notes to the financial statements 
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TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF ST. CLOUD, FLORIDA 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES  

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 

 
 

General Debt Service
REVENUES
Assessments 1,304,489$  758,003$      -$               2,062,492$   
Developer contributions 13,788 -              -                 13,788         
Interest income -              45,334 124,798 170,132       
Miscellaneous 12,420 -              225 12,645         

Total revenues 1,330,697    803,337       125,023          2,259,057     

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 164,052 -              -                 164,052       
Maintenance and operations 795,012 -              -                 795,012       
Recreation 264,987 -              -                 264,987       

Debt Service:
Principal -              215,000 -                 215,000       
Interest -              582,946 -                 582,946       
Bond issue costs -              -              312,400 312,400       

Capital outlay -              -              766,345 766,345       
Total expenditures 1,224,051    797,946       1,078,745       3,100,742     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
            over (under) expenditures 106,646       5,391           (953,722)        (841,685)      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in -              -              22,310 22,310         
Transfers out (11,022)       (11,288)        -                 (22,310)        
Bond proceeds -              261,515 4,458,485 4,720,000     
Original issue discount -              -              (9,488)            (9,488)          

Total other financing sources (uses) (11,022)       250,227       4,471,307       4,710,512     

Net change in fund balances 95,624        255,618       3,517,585       3,868,827     

Fund balances - beginning 419,192 875,596 2,237,418 3,532,206     

Fund balances - ending 514,816$     1,131,214$   5,755,003$     7,401,033$   

Major Funds Total 
Governmental 

FundsCapital Projects

 
 
 
 

 
See notes to the financial statements 
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TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF ST. CLOUD, FLORIDA 

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN 
FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 
 
 

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 3,868,827$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because:

(4,720,000)      

9,488              

(118,350)         

215,000          

1,485              

766,345          

Change in net position of governmental activities   22,795$          

In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, the original issue
discount is reported as a financing use when debt is first issued,
whereas the amount is eliminated in the statement of activities and
reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.

Governmental funds report the face amount of Bonds issued as
financial resources when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts
are eliminated in the statement of activities and recognized as long-
term liabilities in the statement of net position.

The change in accrued interest on long-term liabilities between the
current and prior fiscal years is recorded in the statement of activities,
but not in the governmental fund financial statements.

Repayment of long-term liabilities are reported as expenditures in the
governmental fund statement but such repayments reduce liabilities in
the statement of net position and are eliminated in the statement of
activities.
Amortization of Bond discounts/premiums is not recognized in the
governmental fund financial statements, but is reported as an expense
in the statement of activities.	
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures, however,
the cost of capital assets is eliminated in the statement of activities and
capitalized in the statement of net position.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

See notes to the financial statements 
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TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF ST. CLOUD, FLORIDA  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
 

NOTE 1 – NATURE OF ORGANIZATION AND REPORTING ENTITY     
 
Tohoqua Community Development District ("the District") was created on August 14, 2017 pursuant to the 
Uniform Community Development District Act of 1980, otherwise known as Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
by Osceola County Ordinance 2017-57, subsequently annexed into the City of St. Cloud on May 24, 2018 
by Ordinance 2017-53, and expanded and contracted by Ordinance 2024-15 on February 19, 2024. The 
Act provides among other things, the power to manage basic services for community development, power 
to borrow money and issue bonds, and to levy and assess non-ad valorem assessments for the financing 
and delivery of capital infrastructure. 
 
The District was established for the purposes of financing and managing the acquisition, construction, 
maintenance and operation of a portion of the infrastructure necessary for community development within 
the District.  
 
The District is governed by the Board of Supervisors ("the District") which is composed of five members.  
The Supervisors are elected by landowners of the District. The Board of Supervisors of the District 
exercise all powers granted to the District pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes. Certain Board 
members are affiliated with Tohoqua Development Group, LLC (the “Developer”) as of September 30, 
2024. 
 
The District has the final responsibility for: 
1.   Assessing and levying maintenance taxes and special assessments. 
2. Approving budgets. 
3. Exercising control over facilities and properties. 
4. Controlling the use of funds generated by the District. 
5. Approving the hiring and firing of key personnel. 
6. Financing improvements. 
 
The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards District 
(“GASB”) Statements. Under the provisions of those standards, the financial reporting entity consists of 
the primary government, organizations for which the Board of Supervisors is considered to be financially 
accountable and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the 
District are such that, if excluded, the financial statements of the District would be considered incomplete 
or misleading. There are no entities considered to be component units of the District; therefore, the 
financial statements include only the operations of the District.  
 
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
The basic financial statements include both government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government.  For the most 
part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.   
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment is offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment.  Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers who purchase, use, or 
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment; operating-
type special assessments for maintenance and debt service are treated as charges for services and 2) 
grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a 
particular function or segment. Other items not included among program revenues are reported instead 
as general revenues. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Assessments are 
recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are to be 
recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the 
government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the 
current fiscal period.  Expenditures are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  
However, debt service expenditures are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
Assessments 
Assessments are non-ad valorem assessments on benefitted property within the District. Operating and 
Maintenance Assessments are based upon adopted budget and levied annually at a public hearing of the 
District.  Debt Service Assessments are levied when Bonds are issued and assessed and collected on an 
annual basis.  The District may collect assessments directly or utilize the uniform method of collection 
(Chapter 197.3632, Florida Statutes).  Direct collected assessments are due as determined by annual 
assessment resolution adopted by the Board of Supervisors.  Assessments collected under the uniform 
method are mailed by County Tax Collector on November 1 and due on or before May 31 of each 
year.  Property owners may prepay a portion or all of the Debt Service Assessments on their property 
subject to various provisions in the Bond documents. 
 
Assessments and interest associated with the current fiscal period are considered to be susceptible to 
accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  The portion of 
assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to be susceptible to accrual as 
revenue of the current period. 
 
The District reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
General Fund 
The general fund is the general operating fund of the District.  It is used to account for all financial 
resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
Debt Service Fund 
The debt service fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for the annual payment of 
principal and interest on long-term debt. 
 
Capital Projects Fund 
This fund accounts for the financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of major 
infrastructure and repairs and maintenance within the District. 
 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 
statements. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government’s policy to use 
restricted resources first for qualifying expenditures, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
15 

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Assets, Liabilities and Net Position or Equity 
 
Restricted Assets 
These assets represent cash and investments set aside pursuant to Bond covenants or other contractual 
restrictions.  
 
Deposits and Investments 
The government’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand and demand deposits 
(interest and non-interest bearing). 
 
The District has elected to proceed under the Alternative Investment Guidelines as set forth in Section 
218.415 (17) Florida Statutes. The District may invest any surplus public funds in the following: 
 

a) The Local Government Surplus Trust Funds, or any intergovernmental investment pool 
authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act; 

b) Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the highest credit 
quality rating from a nationally recognized rating agency; 

c) Interest bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories; 
d) Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 

 
Securities listed in paragraph c and d shall be invested to provide sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as 
they come due.   
 
The District records all interest revenue related to investment activities in the respective funds.  
Investments are measured at amortized cost or reported at fair value as required by generally accepted 
accounting principles.     
 
Prepaid Items 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items. 
 
Capital Assets 
Capital assets which include property, plant and equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, 
sidewalks and similar items) are reported in the government activities columns in the government-wide 
financial statements.  Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual 
cost of more than $5,000 (amount not rounded) and an estimated useful life in excess of two years.  Such 
assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated 
capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation. 
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 
extend assets lives are not capitalized.  Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized 
as projects are constructed. 
 
No depreciation has been taken in the current fiscal year as the District’s infrastructure and other capital 
assets are under construction. 
 
Unearned Revenue    
Governmental funds report unearned revenue in connection with resources that have been received, but 
not yet earned.    
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Assets, Liabilities and Net Position or Equity (Continued) 
 
Long-Term Obligations   
In the basic financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities 
statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized ratably over the life 
of the Bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable premiums or discounts. Bond issuance 
costs are expensed when incurred. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize premiums and discounts, as well as 
issuance costs, during the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing 
sources.  Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts 
on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the 
actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources   
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of 
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as 
an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time 
 
Fund Equity/Net Position 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report non spendable and restricted fund balance for 
amounts that are not available for appropriation or are legally restricted by outside parties for use for a 
specific purpose.  Assignments of fund balance represent tentative management plans that are subject to 
change. 
 
The District can establish limitations on the use of fund balance as follows:  
 

Committed fund balance – Amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes determined by a 
formal action (resolution) of the Board of Supervisors. Commitments may be changed or lifted only by 
the Board of Supervisors taking the same formal action (resolution) that imposed the constraint 
originally.  Resources accumulated pursuant to stabilization arrangements sometimes are reported in 
this category.   
 
Assigned fund balance – Includes spendable fund balance amounts established by the Board of 
Supervisors that are intended to be used for specific purposes that are neither considered restricted 
nor committed.  The Board may also assign fund balance as it does when appropriating fund balance 
to cover differences in estimated revenue and appropriations in the subsequent year’s appropriated 
budget.  Assignments are generally temporary and normally the same formal action need not be taken 
to remove the assignment.    

 
The District first uses committed fund balance, followed by assigned fund balance and then unassigned 
fund balance when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted 
fund balance classifications could be used.   
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Assets, Liabilities and Net Position or Equity (Continued) 
 
Fund Equity/Net Position (Continued) 
Net position is the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources. Net position in the government-wide financial statements are categorized 
as net investment in capital assets, restricted or unrestricted.  Net investment in capital assets represents 
net position related to infrastructure and property, plant and equipment.  Restricted net position 
represents the assets restricted by the District’s Bond covenants or other contractual restrictions. 
Unrestricted net position consists of the net position not meeting the definition of either of the other two 
components.   
 
Other Disclosures 
 
Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.  
 
NOTE 3 – BUDGETARY INFORMATION      
 
The District is required to establish a budgetary system and an approved Annual Budget.  Annual 
Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for the general 
fund.  All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end. 
 
The District follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements. 
 
a) Each year the District Manager submits to the District Board a proposed operating budget for the 

fiscal year commencing the following October 1.  
b) Public hearings are conducted to obtain public comments. 
c) Prior to October 1, the budget is legally adopted by the District Board. 
d) All budget changes must be approved by the District Board. 
e) The budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. 
f) Unused appropriation for annually budgeted funds lapse at the end of the year. 
 
NOTE 4 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Deposits 
The District’s cash balances were entirely covered by federal depository insurance or by a collateral pool 
pledged to the State Treasurer. "Florida Security for Public Deposits Act" its compliance with Chapter 
280, Florida Statutes, requires all qualified depositories to deposit with the Treasurer or another banking 
institution eligible collateral equal to various percentages of the average daily balance for each month of 
all public deposits in excess of any applicable deposit insurance held.  The percentage of eligible 
collateral (generally, U.S. Governmental and agency securities, state or local government debt, or 
corporate bonds) to public deposits is dependent upon the depository's financial history and its 
compliance with Chapter 280.  In the event of a failure of a qualified public depository, the remaining 
public depositories would be responsible for covering any resulting losses. 
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NOTE 4 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
Investments 
The District’s investments were held as follows at September 30, 2024: 
 

Amortized Cost Credit Risk Maturities
US Bank Money Market  $      6,852,989 N/A N/A

Total Investments  $      6,852,989 
 

Concentration risk – The District places no limit on the amount the District may invest in any one issuer.   
 
Credit risk – For investments, credit risk is generally the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill 
its obligation to the holder of the investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a 
nationally recognized statistical rating organization.  Investment ratings by investment type are included in 
the preceding summary of investments. 
 
Interest rate risk – The District does not have a formal policy that limits investment maturities as a means 
of managing exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.   
 
However, the Bond Indenture limits the type of investments held using unspent proceeds. 
 
Fair Value Measurement – When applicable, the District measures and records its investments using fair 
value measurement guidelines established in accordance with GASB Statements.  The framework for 
measuring fair value provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques.  
 
These guidelines recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy, in order of highest priority, as follows: 

• Level 1:  Investments whose values are based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical 
investments in active markets that the District has the ability to access; 

• Level 2:  Investments whose inputs - other than quoted market prices - are observable either 
directly or indirectly; and, 

• Level 3:  Investments whose inputs are unobservable. 
 
The fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input 
that is significant to the entire fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used should maximize the 
use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Money market investments that have a maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less and are held 
by governments other than external investment pools should be measured at amortized cost. Accordingly, 
the District’s investments have been reported at amortized cost above.    
 
NOTE 5 – INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
 
Interfund transfers for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 were as follows:  
 

Fund Transfer in  Transfer out
General -$              11,022$          
Debt service -                11,288           
Capital projects 22,310            -                 
          Total 22,310$         22,310$          

 
Transfers are used to move revenues from the fund where collection occurs to the fund where funds have 
been reallocated for use.  In the case of the District, transfers from the debt service fund to the capital 
projects fund were made in accordance with the Bond Indentures. Transfers from the general fund to the 
capital projects fund were made in order to fund the capital reserves. 
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NOTE 6 – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 was as follows:  

Additions Reductions
Governmental activities
Capital assets, not being depreciated

Construction in progress 11,264,923$     766,345 -$                 12,031,268$     
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 11,264,923       766,345           -                  12,031,268       

Governmental activities capital assets 11,264,923$     766,345$          -$                 12,031,268$     

Beginning 
Balance

Ending            
Balance

 
The infrastructure intended to serve the District has been estimated at a total cost of about $71,870,000. 
The Capital Improvement Program (“CIP”) will be built out in phases. The infrastructure will include roads, 
stormwater management, utilities, community facilities, and off-site improvements. A portion of the project 
costs are to be funded with the proceeds from the issuance of Bonds and the remainder is intended to be 
funded by the Developer. The remaining project costs will be funded by a combination of Developer 
contributions or future bond issues. Upon completion, certain assets will be conveyed for ownership and 
maintenance. During the current year, the District paid $759,339 to the Developers for the acquisition of 
infrastructure.  
 
NOTE 7 – LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
 
Series 2018 
On February 8, 2018, the District issued $2,165,000 of Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 
2018, consisting of $1,090,000 Term Bonds due on May 1, 2038 with a fixed interest rate of 4.7% and 
$1,075,000 Term Bonds due on May 1, 2048 with a fixed interest rate of 4.8%.  The Bonds were issued to 
repay the developer for financing the construction improvements to the District.  Interest is to be paid 
semiannually on each May 1st and November 1st.  Principal on the Bonds is to be paid serially 
commencing May 1, 2019 through May 1, 2048. 
 
The Series 2018 Bonds are subject to redemption at the option of the District prior to their maturity. The 
Bonds are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption prior to their selected maturity in the manner 
determined by the Bond Registrar if certain events occurred as outlined in the Bond Indenture. 
 
The Bond Indenture established a debt service reserve requirement as well as other restrictions and 
requirements relating principally to the use of proceeds to pay for the infrastructure improvements and the 
procedures to be followed by the District on assessments to property owners.  The District agrees to levy 
special assessments in annual amounts adequate to provide payment of debt service and to meet the 
reserve requirements. The District was in compliance with the requirements at September 30, 2024. 
 
Series 2021 Phase 2 Bonds 
On March 5, 2021, the District issued $2,580,000 of Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 
“Phase 2 Bonds”, consisting of various Term Bonds with due dates from May 1, 2026 to May 1, 2051 and 
fixed interest rates ranging from 2.375% to 4%.  The Bonds were issued to finance the construction and 
acquisition of infrastructure improvements for the District.  Interest is to be paid semiannually on each 
May 1st and November 1st.  Principal on the Bonds is to be paid serially commencing May 1, 2022 through 
May 1, 2051. 
 
The Series 2021 Phase 2 Bonds are subject to redemption at the option of the District prior to their 
maturity. The Bonds are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption prior to their selected maturity in 
the manner determined by the Bond Registrar if certain events occurred as outlined in the Bond 
Indenture. 
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NOTE 7 – LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
Series 2021 Phase 2 Bonds Continued) 
The Bond Indenture established a debt service reserve requirement as well as other restrictions and 
requirements relating principally to the use of proceeds to pay for the infrastructure improvements and the 
procedures to be followed by the District on assessments to property owners.  The District agrees to levy 
special assessments in annual amounts adequate to provide payment of debt service and to meet the 
reserve requirements. The District was in compliance with the requirements at September 30, 2024. 
 
Series 2021 Phase 4A/5A Bonds 
On March 19, 2021, the District issued $2,660,000 of Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 
“Phase 4A/5A Bonds”, consisting of various Term Bonds with due dates from May 1, 2026 to May 1, 2051 
and fixed interest rates ranging from 2.5% to 4%.  The Bonds were issued to finance the construction and 
acquisition of infrastructure improvements for the District.  Interest is to be paid semiannually on each 
May 1st and November 1st.  Principal on the Bonds is to be paid serially commencing May 1, 2022 through 
May 1, 2051. 
 
The Series 2021 Phase 4A/5A Bonds are subject to redemption at the option of the District prior to their 
maturity. The Bonds are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption prior to their selected maturity in 
the manner determined by the Bond Registrar if certain events occurred as outlined in the Bond 
Indenture. 
 
The Bond Indenture established a debt service reserve requirement as well as other restrictions and 
requirements relating principally to the use of proceeds to pay for the infrastructure improvements and the 
procedures to be followed by the District on assessments to property owners.  The District agrees to levy 
special assessments in annual amounts adequate to provide payment of debt service and to meet the 
reserve requirements. The District was in compliance with the requirements at September 30, 2024. 
 
Series 2022 Phase 3/6 Bonds 
On November 4, 2022, the District issued $2,120,000 of Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 
2022 “Phase 3/6 Bonds”, consisting of various Term Bonds with due dates from May 1, 2032 to May 1, 
2053 and fixed interest rates ranging from 5% to 5.85%.  The Bonds were issued to repay the Developer 
for financing the construction improvements for the District.  Interest is to be paid semiannually on each 
May 1st and November 1st.  Principal on the Bonds is to be paid serially commencing May 1, 2023 through 
May 1, 2053. 
 
The Series 2022 Phase 3/6 Bonds are subject to redemption at the option of the District prior to their 
maturity. The Bonds are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption prior to their selected maturity in 
the manner determined by the Bond Registrar if certain events occurred as outlined in the Bond 
Indenture. 
 
The Bond Indenture established a debt service reserve requirement as well as other restrictions and 
requirements relating principally to the use of proceeds to pay for the infrastructure improvements and the 
procedures to be followed by the District on assessments to property owners.  The District agrees to levy 
special assessments in annual amounts adequate to provide payment of debt service and to meet the 
reserve requirements. Upon satisfaction of certain conditions, a portion of the original reserve 
requirements will be released to the Developer for construction costs paid on behalf of the District; this did 
not occur during the current fiscal year. The District was in compliance with the requirements at 
September 30, 2024. 
 
Series 2023 Phase 4B/5B Bonds 
On March 15, 2023, the District issued $2,230,000 of Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2023 
“Phase 4B/5B Bonds”, consisting of various Term Bonds with due dates from May 1, 2030 to May 1, 2053 
and fixed interest rates ranging from 4.5% to 5.6%.  The Bonds were issued finance a portion of the 
construction improvements for the District.  Interest is to be paid semiannually on each May 1st and 
November 1st.  Principal on the Bonds is to be paid serially commencing May 1, 2023 through May 1, 
2053. 
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NOTE 7 – LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (Continued) 
 
Long-term Debt Activity 
Changes in long-term liabilities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 were as follows: 

Additions Reductions
Governmental activities

Series 2018 Bonds 1,980,000$            -$                 45,000$           1,935,000$       45,000$           
Series 2021 Phase 2 2,470,000      -                  55,000      2,415,000         55,000      

Plus: Original issue premium 30,930          -                  1,105       29,825             -           
Series 2021 Phase 4A/5A 2,550,000      -                  55,000      2,495,000         55,000      

Plus: Original issue premium 19,014          -                  679          18,335             -           
Series 2022 Phase 3/6 2,120,000      -                  30,000      2,090,000         30,000      
Series 2023 Phase 4B/5B 2,230,000      -                  30,000      2,200,000         35,000      

Less: Original issue discount (5,720)           -                  (191)         (5,529)              -           
Series 2023 Phase 4C 1,990,000      -                  -           1,990,000         25,000      

Less: Original issue discount (3,254)           -                  (108)         (3,146)              -           
Series 2024 Phase 7 -                4,720,000         -           4,720,000         65,000      

Less: Original issue discount -                (9,488)              -           (9,488)              -           
Total 13,380,970$          4,710,512$       216,485$          17,874,997$     310,000$          

Beginning Balance
Due Within One 

YearEnding Balance

 
At September 30, 2024, the scheduled debt service requirements on the long - term liabilities were as 
follows: 

 Principal  Interest Total
2025 310,000$         848,708$         1,158,708$      
2026 330,000           865,329           1,195,329        
2027 345,000           852,625           1,197,625        
2028 350,000           838,476           1,188,476        
2029 375,000           824,038           1,199,038        

2030-2034 2,130,000        3,868,879        5,998,879        
2035-2039 2,685,000        3,323,133        6,008,133        
2040-2044 3,410,000        2,611,825        6,021,825        
2045-2049 4,265,000        1,660,115        5,925,115        
2050-2054 3,645,000        552,502           4,197,502        

17,845,000$    16,245,630$    34,090,630$    

Year ending 
September 30:

Governmental Activities

 
NOTE 8 – DEVELOPER TRANSACTIONS AND CONCENTRATION 

Assessments in the general and debt service funds include amounts owned on Developer owned lots. 
The District’s activities are dependent on the continued involvement of the Developer, the loss which 
could have a material adverse effect on the District’s operations. 
 
NOTE 9 – MANAGEMENT COMPANY 
 
The District has contracted with a management company to perform management advisory services, 
which include financial and accounting advisory services. Certain employees of the management 
company also serve as officers (Board appointed non-voting positions) of the District. Under the 
agreement, the District compensates the management company for management, accounting, financial 
reporting, and other administrative costs. 
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NOTE 10 – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters. The District has obtained commercial insurance from 
independent third parties to mitigate the costs of these risks; coverage may not extend to all situations. 
There were no settled claims during the past three years. 
 
NOTE 11 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Bond Payments    
Subsequent to fiscal year end, the District prepaid a total of $10,000 of the Series 2023 Phase 4B/5B 
Bonds.  The prepayments were considered extraordinary mandatory redemptions as outlined in the Bond 
Indenture. 
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TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF ST. CLOUD, FLORIDA 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN 
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL – GENERAL FUND 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 
 
 

Original & Final
REVENUES
Assessments 1,294,360$      1,304,489$     10,129$           
Developer contributions 301,982           13,788           (288,194)          
Miscellaneous 12,000             12,420           420                  

Total revenues 1,608,342        1,330,697       (277,645)          

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 177,523           164,052         13,471             
Maintenance expenditures 1,182,925        795,012 387,913           
Recreation 236,872           264,987         (28,115)            

Total expenditures 1,597,320        1,224,051       373,269           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
            over (under) expenditures 11,022             106,646         95,624             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfer in (out) (11,022)           (11,022)          -                  

Total other financing sources (uses) (11,022)           (11,022)          -                  

Net change in fund balance -$                95,624           95,624$           

Fund balance - beginning 419,192         

Fund balance - ending 514,816$        

Variance with 
Final Budget - 

Positive 
(Negative)Actual Amounts

Budgeted 
Amounts

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
See notes to required supplementary information 



 

 
25 

TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF ST. CLOUD, FLORIDA  

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

The District is required to establish a budgetary system and an approved Annual Budget for the general 
fund. The District’s budgeting process is based on estimates of cash receipts and cash expenditures 
which are approved by the Board.  The budget approximates a basis consistent with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (generally accepted accounting principles). 
 
The legal level of budgetary control, the level at which expenditures may not exceed budget, is in the 
aggregate.  Any budget amendments that increase the aggregate budgeted appropriations must be 
approved by the Board of Supervisors.  Actual general fund expenditures did not exceed appropriations 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. 
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TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF ST. CLOUD, FLORIDA  

OTHER INFORMATION – DATA ELEMENTS  
REQUIRED BY FL STATUTE 218.39(3)(C) 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 
UNAUDITED 

 
 

Element Comments
Number of District employees compensated in the last pay period of 
the District’s fiscal year being reported. 0

Number of independent contractors compensated to whom 
nonemployee compensation was paid in the last month of the District’s 
fiscal year being reported.

0

Employee compensation $2,600
Independent contractor compensation $1,221,251
Construction projects to begin on or after October 1; ($65K) Not applicable

Budget variance report
See the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and 
Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - 

General Fund
Ad Valorem taxes; Not applicable

Non ad valorem special assessments;
Special assessment rate Operations and maintenance - $498 - $1,278

Debt service - $300.00 - $1,423.65
Special assessments collected $2,062,492
Outstanding Bonds: see Note 7 for details
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT 

OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH  
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
To the Board of Supervisors  
Tohoqua Community Development District 
City of St. Cloud, Florida  
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities and each major fund of Tohoqua Community Development District, City of St. Cloud, Florida 
(“District”) as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements, and have issued our 
opinion thereon dated June 9, 2025.   

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.   

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.   
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.   

Report on Compliance and Other Matters  
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards.   
 



 

 
28 

Purpose of this Report  
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.   
 

 

June 9, 2025 

 



      
   1001 Yamato Road ▪ Suite 301 
   Boca Raton, Florida 33431 
   (561) 994-9299 ▪ (800) 299-4728 
   Fax (561) 994-5823 
   www.graucpa.com 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE  
REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES, REQUIRED BY  
RULE 10.556(10) OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

 
To the Board of Supervisors 
Tohoqua Community Development District 
City of St. Cloud, Florida 
 
We have examined Tohoqua Community Development District, City of St. Cloud, Florida’s (“District”) 
compliance with the requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, in accordance with Rule 
10.556(10) of the Auditor General of the State of Florida during the fiscal year ended September 30, 
2024. Management is responsible for District’s compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on District’s compliance based on our examination. 
 
Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the District complied, in all material respects, 
with the specified requirements referenced in Section 218.415, Florida Statutes. An examination involves 
performing procedures to obtain evidence about whether the District complied with the specified 
requirements. The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including an assessment of the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error. We 
believe that the evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the District’s compliance with 
specified requirements. 
 
We are required to be independent and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to the examination engagement. 
 
In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing Committee, members 
of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor General, 
management, and the Board of Supervisors of Tohoqua Community Development District, City of St. 
Cloud, Florida and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties.    
 
 
 
June 9, 2025 



      
   1001 Yamato Road ▪ Suite 301 
   Boca Raton, Florida 33431 
   (561) 994-9299 ▪ (800) 299-4728 
   Fax (561) 994-5823 
   www.graucpa.com 
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MANAGEMENT LETTER PURSUANT TO THE RULES OF 
THE AUDITOR GENERAL FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

 
To the Board of Supervisors 
Tohoqua Community Development District 
City of St. Cloud, Florida 
 
Report on the Financial Statements  
 
We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of Tohoqua Community Development 
District ("District") as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024 and have issued our report 
thereon dated June 9, 2025. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor 
General.   
 
Other Reporting Requirements 
     
We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards; and Independent Auditor’s Report on an examination conducted in 
accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C Section 315, regarding compliance requirements 
in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General. Disclosures in those reports, which are 
dated June 9, 2025, should be considered in conjunction with this management letter.   
 
Purpose of this Letter  
 
The purpose of this letter is to comment on those matters required by Chapter 10.550 of the Rules of the 
Auditor General for the State of Florida.  Accordingly, in connection with our audit of the financial 
statements of the District, as described in the first paragraph, we report the following: 
 
I. Current year findings and recommendations. 
II. Status of prior year findings and recommendations. 
III. Compliance with the Provisions of the Auditor General of the State of Florida. 
 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor 
General, Federal and other granting agencies, as applicable, management, and the Board of Supervisors 
of Tohoqua Community Development District, City of St. Cloud, Florida and is not intended to be and 
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
  
We wish to thank Tohoqua Community Development District, City of St. Cloud, Florida and the personnel 
associated with it, for the opportunity to be of service to them in this endeavor as well as future 
engagements and the courtesies extended to us. 

 
 

 
June 9, 2025
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REPORT TO MANAGEMENT 
  
 
 I. CURRENT YEAR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS  
  

None 
 
II. PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS  
  
 None 
 
III. COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL OF THE STATE OF 

FLORIDA 
 

Unless otherwise required to be reported in the auditor’s report on compliance and internal controls, 
the management letter shall include, but not be limited to the following: 
 
1. A statement as to whether or not corrective actions have been taken to address findings 

and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial audit report.   

There were no significant findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial 
audit report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. 

2. Any recommendations to improve the local governmental entity's financial management. 

There were no such matters discovered by, or that came to the attention of, the auditor, to be 
reported for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. 

3. Noncompliance with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have 
occurred, or are likely to have occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that 
is less than material but which warrants the attention of those charged with governance.    

There were no such matters discovered by, or that came to the attention of, the auditor, to be 
reported, for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. 

4. The name or official title and legal authority of the District are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

5. The District has not met one or more of the financial emergency conditions described in Section 
218.503(1), Florida Statutes.  

 
6. We applied financial condition assessment procedures and no deteriorating financial conditions 

were noted as of September 30, 2024. It is management’s responsibility to monitor financial 
condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on representations made by 
management and the review of financial information provided by same.  
 

7. Management has provided the specific information required by Section 218.39(3)(c) in the Other 
Information section of the financial statements on page 26. 
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July 2, 2025 
 
 
Tohoqua Community Development District 
   c/o Ms. Katie Costa  
Director of Operations – Accounting Division  
Government Management Services – CF, LLC  
6200 Lee Vista Boulevard, Suite 300 
Orlando, FL  32822 
 
 
Re: $2,580,000 Tohoqua Community Development District (City of St. Cloud, Florida),  

Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 (Phase 2 Project) 
 
 
Dear Ms. Costa: 
 
AMTEC has prepared certain computations relating to the above referenced bond issue (the “Bonds”) at 
the request of the Tohoqua Community Development District (the “District”). 
 
The scope of our engagement consisted of preparing the computations shown in the attached schedules to 
determine the Rebatable Arbitrage as described in Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, 
Section 148(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and all applicable 
Regulations issued thereunder.  The methodology used is consistent with current tax law and regulations 
and may be relied upon in determining the rebate liability.  Certain computational methods used in the 
preparation of the schedules are described in the Summary of Computational Information and Definitions. 
 
Our engagement was limited to the computation of Rebatable Arbitrage based upon the information 
furnished to us by the District.  In accordance with the terms of our engagement, we did not audit the 
information provided to us, and we express no opinion as to the completeness, accuracy or suitability of 
such information for purposes of calculating the Rebatable Arbitrage. 
 
We have scheduled our next Report as of June 30, 2026.  Thank you and should you have any questions, 
please do not hesitate to contact us. 
 
 
Very truly yours, 
 

  
Michael J. Scarfo 
Senior Vice President 

Trong M. Tran 
Assistant Vice President 
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SUMMARY OF REBATE COMPUTATIONS 
 

Our computations, contained in the attached schedules, are summarized as follows: 
 

For the June 15, 2025 Computation Date 
Reflecting Activity from March 5, 2021 through June 15, 2025 

 
Fund 

Description 
Taxable 
Inv Yield 

Net 
Income 

Rebatable 
Arbitrage 

Project Fund 0.006778% 144.28 (81,606.99) 
Debt Service Reserve Fund 2.716420% 8,567.66 (2,364.32) 
Capitalized Interest Fund 0.005788% 1.84 (1,230.68) 
Cost of Issuance Fund 0.005387% 0.50 (361.13) 

Totals 0.349057% $8,714.28 $(85,563.12) 
Bond Yield 3.418888%  

Rebate Computation Credits (10,423.27) 
Net Rebatable Arbitrage $(95,986.39) 
 
 
 

Based upon our computations, no rebate liability exists. 
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SUMMARY OF COMPUTATIONAL INFORMATION 
AND DEFINITIONS 

 
COMPUTATIONAL INFORMATION 
 
1. For purposes of computing Rebatable Arbitrage, investment activity is reflected from March 5, 2021, 

the date of the closing, to June 15, 2025, the Computation Date.  All nonpurpose payments and receipts 
are future valued to the Computation Date of June 15, 2025. 

 
2. Computations of yield are based on a 360-day year and semiannual compounding on the last day of 

each compounding interval.  Compounding intervals end on a day in the calendar year corresponding 
to Bond maturity dates or six months prior.   

 
3. For investment cash flow, debt service and yield computation purposes, all payments and receipts are 

assumed to be paid or received respectively, as shown on the attached schedules. 
 
4. Purchase prices on investments are assumed to be at fair market value, representing an arm's length 

transaction. 
 

5. During the period between March 5, 2021 and June 15, 2025, the District made periodic payments 
into the Debt Service Fund that were used, along with the interest earned, to provide the required debt 
service payments. 

 

Under Section 148(f)(4)(A), the rebate requirement does not apply to amounts in certain bona fide 
debt service funds.  The Regulations define a bona fide debt service fund as one that is used primarily 
to achieve a proper matching of revenues with principal and interest payments within each bond 
year.  The fund must be depleted at least once each bond year, except for a reasonable carryover 
amount not to exceed the greater of the earnings on the fund for the immediately preceding bond year 
or 1/12th of the principal and interest payments on the issue for the immediately preceding bond year.  

 

We have reviewed the Debt Service Fund and have determined that the funds deposited have 
functioned as a bona fide debt service fund and are not subject to the rebate requirement. 

 
DEFINITIONS 
 
6. Computation Date 
 

June 15, 2025. 
 
7. Computation Period 
 

The period beginning on March 5, 2021, the date of the closing, and ending on June 15, 2025, the 
Computation Date.  
 
8. Bond Year 
 

Each one-year period (or shorter period from the date of issue) that ends at the close of business on June 
15th, the day in the calendar year that was selected by the Issuer, or the final redemption date of the Bonds. 
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9. Bond Yield 
 

The discount rate that, when used in computing the present value of all the unconditionally payable 
payments of principal and interest with respect to the Bonds, produces an amount equal to the present 
value of the issue price of the Bonds.  Present value is computed as of the date of issue of the Bonds. 
 
10. Taxable Investment Yield 
 

The discount rate that, when used in computing the present value of all receipts of principal and interest 
to be received on an investment during the Computation Period, produces an amount equal to the fair 
market value of the investment at the time it became a nonpurpose investment. 
 
11. Issue Price 
 

The price determined on the basis of the initial offering price at which price a substantial amount of the 
Bonds was sold. 
 
12. Rebatable Arbitrage 
 

The Code defines the required rebate as the excess of the amount earned on all nonpurpose investments 
over the amount that would have been earned if such nonpurpose investments were invested at the Bond 
Yield, plus any income attributable to the excess.  Accordingly, the Regulations require that this amount 
be computed as the excess of the future value of all the nonpurpose receipts over the future value of all the 
nonpurpose payments.  The future value is computed as of the Computation Date using the Bond Yield. 
 
13. Funds and Accounts 
 

The Funds and Accounts activity used in the compilation of this Report was received from the District 
and US Bank, Trustee, as follows:    

 

Fund / Account Account Number 
Project Fund 250329005 

Debt Service Reserve Fund 250329003 
Capitalized Interest Fund 250329007 

Cost of Issuance Fund 250329006 
Principal 250329002 
Interest 250329001 

Revenue 250329000 
Prepayment 250329004 
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$2,580,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 2 Project) 
Delivered: March 5, 2021 

 
 

Sources of Funds 
 

Par Amount $2,580,000.00 
Original Issue Premium         33,139.85 

Total $2,613,139.85 
 
 

Uses of Funds 
 

Project Fund $2,256,979.90 
Debt Service Reserve Fund 72,381.26 
Capitalized Interest Fund 59,028.69 
Cost of Issuance Fund 178,150.00 
Underwriter’s Discount         46,600.00 

Total $2,613,139.85 
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Prepared by AMTEC (Finance 8.800)

PROOF OF ARBITRAGE YIELD

$2,580,000
Tohoqua Community Development District

(City of St. Cloud, Florida)
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

(Phase 2 Project)

Present Value
to 03/05/2021

Date Debt Service @  3.4188876366%

05/01/2021 14,006.81 13,933.14
11/01/2021 45,021.88 44,032.38
05/01/2022 100,021.88 96,179.45
11/01/2022 44,368.75 41,947.22
05/01/2023 99,368.75 92,366.51
11/01/2023 43,715.63 39,952.15
05/01/2024 98,715.63 88,700.91
11/01/2024 43,062.50 38,043.47
05/01/2025 98,062.50 85,177.04
11/01/2025 42,409.38 36,217.65
05/01/2026 102,409.38 85,987.79
11/01/2026 41,696.88 34,422.25
05/01/2027 101,696.88 82,543.35
11/01/2027 40,834.38 32,586.61
05/01/2028 100,834.38 79,115.31
11/01/2028 39,971.88 30,835.09
05/01/2029 104,971.88 79,616.36
11/01/2029 39,037.50 29,110.53
05/01/2030 104,037.50 76,277.54
11/01/2030 38,103.13 27,466.68
05/01/2031 1,278,103.13 905,837.16
11/01/2031 13,668.75 9,524.71
05/01/2032 83,668.75 57,322.48
11/01/2032 12,487.50 8,411.55
05/01/2033 82,487.50 54,629.50
11/01/2033 11,306.25 7,362.01
05/01/2034 86,306.25 55,253.37
11/01/2034 10,040.63 6,319.99
05/01/2035 85,040.63 52,628.44
11/01/2035 8,775.00 5,339.24
05/01/2036 88,775.00 53,108.27
11/01/2036 7,425.00 4,367.24
05/01/2037 87,425.00 50,557.38
11/01/2037 6,075.00 3,454.09
05/01/2038 91,075.00 50,912.63
11/01/2038 4,640.63 2,550.60
05/01/2039 94,640.63 51,142.43
11/01/2039 3,121.88 1,658.67
05/01/2040 93,121.88 48,644.41
11/01/2040 1,603.13 823.36
05/01/2041 96,603.13 48,780.90

3,588,738.17 2,613,139.85

Proceeds Summary

Delivery date 03/05/2021
Par Value 2,580,000.00
Premium (Discount) 33,139.85

Target for yield calculation 2,613,139.85
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Prepared by AMTEC (Finance 8.800)

PROOF OF ARBITRAGE YIELD

$2,580,000
Tohoqua Community Development District

(City of St. Cloud, Florida)
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

(Phase 2 Project)

Assumed Call/Computation Dates for Premium Bonds

Bond Maturity Call Call Yield To
Component Date Rate Yield Date Price Call/Maturity

TERM04 05/01/2042 4.000% 3.650% 05/01/2031 100.000 3.6509038%
TERM04 05/01/2043 4.000% 3.650% 05/01/2031 100.000 3.6509038%
TERM04 05/01/2044 4.000% 3.650% 05/01/2031 100.000 3.6509038%
TERM04 05/01/2045 4.000% 3.650% 05/01/2031 100.000 3.6509038%
TERM04 05/01/2046 4.000% 3.650% 05/01/2031 100.000 3.6509038%
TERM04 05/01/2047 4.000% 3.650% 05/01/2031 100.000 3.6509038%
TERM04 05/01/2048 4.000% 3.650% 05/01/2031 100.000 3.6509038%
TERM04 05/01/2049 4.000% 3.650% 05/01/2031 100.000 3.6509038%
TERM04 05/01/2050 4.000% 3.650% 05/01/2031 100.000 3.6509038%
TERM04 05/01/2051 4.000% 3.650% 05/01/2031 100.000 3.6509038%

Rejected Call/Computation Dates for Premium Bonds

Bond Maturity Call Call Yield To Increase
Component Date Rate Yield Date Price Call/Maturity to Yield

TERM04 05/01/2042 4.000% 3.650% 3.7965809% 0.1456771%
TERM04 05/01/2043 4.000% 3.650% 3.8024629% 0.1515591%
TERM04 05/01/2044 4.000% 3.650% 3.8078073% 0.1569035%
TERM04 05/01/2045 4.000% 3.650% 3.8126812% 0.1617774%
TERM04 05/01/2046 4.000% 3.650% 3.8171408% 0.1662370%
TERM04 05/01/2047 4.000% 3.650% 3.8212339% 0.1703301%
TERM04 05/01/2048 4.000% 3.650% 3.8250011% 0.1740973%
TERM04 05/01/2049 4.000% 3.650% 3.8284774% 0.1775736%
TERM04 05/01/2050 4.000% 3.650% 3.8316928% 0.1807890%
TERM04 05/01/2051 4.000% 3.650% 3.8346735% 0.1837697%
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Prepared by AMTEC (Finance 8.800)

BOND DEBT SERVICE

$2,580,000
Tohoqua Community Development District

(City of St. Cloud, Florida)
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

(Phase 2 Project)

Period Annual
Ending Principal Coupon Interest Debt Service Debt Service

03/05/2021
05/01/2021 14,006.81 14,006.81 14,006.81
11/01/2021 45,021.88 45,021.88
05/01/2022 55,000 2.375% 45,021.88 100,021.88 145,043.76
11/01/2022 44,368.75 44,368.75
05/01/2023 55,000 2.375% 44,368.75 99,368.75 143,737.50
11/01/2023 43,715.63 43,715.63
05/01/2024 55,000 2.375% 43,715.63 98,715.63 142,431.26
11/01/2024 43,062.50 43,062.50
05/01/2025 55,000 2.375% 43,062.50 98,062.50 141,125.00
11/01/2025 42,409.38 42,409.38
05/01/2026 60,000 2.375% 42,409.38 102,409.38 144,818.76
11/01/2026 41,696.88 41,696.88
05/01/2027 60,000 2.875% 41,696.88 101,696.88 143,393.76
11/01/2027 40,834.38 40,834.38
05/01/2028 60,000 2.875% 40,834.38 100,834.38 141,668.76
11/01/2028 39,971.88 39,971.88
05/01/2029 65,000 2.875% 39,971.88 104,971.88 144,943.76
11/01/2029 39,037.50 39,037.50
05/01/2030 65,000 2.875% 39,037.50 104,037.50 143,075.00
11/01/2030 38,103.13 38,103.13
05/01/2031 65,000 2.875% 38,103.13 103,103.13 141,206.26
11/01/2031 37,168.75 37,168.75
05/01/2032 70,000 3.375% 37,168.75 107,168.75 144,337.50
11/01/2032 35,987.50 35,987.50
05/01/2033 70,000 3.375% 35,987.50 105,987.50 141,975.00
11/01/2033 34,806.25 34,806.25
05/01/2034 75,000 3.375% 34,806.25 109,806.25 144,612.50
11/01/2034 33,540.63 33,540.63
05/01/2035 75,000 3.375% 33,540.63 108,540.63 142,081.26
11/01/2035 32,275.00 32,275.00
05/01/2036 80,000 3.375% 32,275.00 112,275.00 144,550.00
11/01/2036 30,925.00 30,925.00
05/01/2037 80,000 3.375% 30,925.00 110,925.00 141,850.00
11/01/2037 29,575.00 29,575.00
05/01/2038 85,000 3.375% 29,575.00 114,575.00 144,150.00
11/01/2038 28,140.63 28,140.63
05/01/2039 90,000 3.375% 28,140.63 118,140.63 146,281.26
11/01/2039 26,621.88 26,621.88
05/01/2040 90,000 3.375% 26,621.88 116,621.88 143,243.76
11/01/2040 25,103.13 25,103.13
05/01/2041 95,000 3.375% 25,103.13 120,103.13 145,206.26
11/01/2041 23,500.00 23,500.00
05/01/2042 95,000 4.000% 23,500.00 118,500.00 142,000.00
11/01/2042 21,600.00 21,600.00
05/01/2043 100,000 4.000% 21,600.00 121,600.00 143,200.00
11/01/2043 19,600.00 19,600.00
05/01/2044 105,000 4.000% 19,600.00 124,600.00 144,200.00
11/01/2044 17,500.00 17,500.00
05/01/2045 110,000 4.000% 17,500.00 127,500.00 145,000.00
11/01/2045 15,300.00 15,300.00
05/01/2046 115,000 4.000% 15,300.00 130,300.00 145,600.00
11/01/2046 13,000.00 13,000.00
05/01/2047 120,000 4.000% 13,000.00 133,000.00 146,000.00
11/01/2047 10,600.00 10,600.00
05/01/2048 125,000 4.000% 10,600.00 135,600.00 146,200.00
11/01/2048 8,100.00 8,100.00
05/01/2049 130,000 4.000% 8,100.00 138,100.00 146,200.00
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Prepared by AMTEC (Finance 8.800)

BOND DEBT SERVICE

$2,580,000
Tohoqua Community Development District

(City of St. Cloud, Florida)
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

(Phase 2 Project)

Period Annual
Ending Principal Coupon Interest Debt Service Debt Service

11/01/2049 5,500.00 5,500.00
05/01/2050 135,000 4.000% 5,500.00 140,500.00 146,000.00
11/01/2050 2,800.00 2,800.00
05/01/2051 140,000 4.000% 2,800.00 142,800.00 145,600.00

2,580,000 1,753,738.17 4,333,738.17 4,333,738.17
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$2,580,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 2 Project) 
Project Fund 

 
 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

 
                                                           FUTURE VALUE @ 
                                             RECEIPTS       BOND YIELD OF 
         DATE      DESCRIPTION              (PAYMENTS)        (3.418888%) 
 
         03/05/21  Beg Bal              -2,256,979.90       -2,609,200.94 
         05/25/21                          683,601.73          784,352.54 
         08/27/21  from COI                 -9,617.33          -10,939.57 
         09/28/21                            1,924.00            2,182.14 
         09/28/21                              241.25              273.62 
         09/28/21                              770.00              873.31 
         09/28/21                              667.50              757.06 
         01/11/22                               52.50               58.97 
         02/07/22                            1,050.00            1,176.50 
         03/22/22                              633.75              707.10 
         05/16/22                              165.00              183.16 
         06/06/22                        1,577,365.25        1,747,704.52 
         04/04/23                              225.00              242.40 
         09/28/23                             -241.25             -255.68 
         04/23/24                             -225.00             -233.90 
         06/15/25  Bal                         510.89              510.89 
         06/15/25  Acc                           0.89                0.89 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
         06/15/25  TOTALS:                     144.28          -81,606.99 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
         ISSUE DATE:   03/05/21   REBATABLE ARBITRAGE:  -81,606.99 
         COMP DATE:    06/15/25   NET INCOME:               144.28 
         BOND YIELD:  3.418888%   TAX INV YIELD:         0.006778% 
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$2,580,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 2 Project) 
Debt Service Reserve Fund 

 
 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

 
                                                           FUTURE VALUE @ 
                                             RECEIPTS       BOND YIELD OF 
         DATE      DESCRIPTION              (PAYMENTS)        (3.418888%) 
 
         03/05/21  Beg Bal                 -72,381.26          -83,676.98 
         04/02/21                                0.27                0.31 
         05/04/21                                0.30                0.34 
         06/02/21                                0.31                0.36 
         07/02/21                                0.30                0.34 
         08/03/21                                0.31                0.35 
         09/02/21                                0.31                0.35 
         11/02/21                                0.31                0.35 
         12/02/21                                0.30                0.34 
         01/04/22                                0.31                0.35 
         02/02/22                                0.31                0.35 
         03/02/22                                0.28                0.31 
         04/04/22                                0.31                0.35 
         05/03/22                                0.30                0.33 
         06/02/22                                0.31                0.34 
         07/05/22                                0.30                0.33 
         08/02/22                                0.31                0.34 
         09/02/22                               47.74               52.47 
         10/04/22                               89.24               97.78 
         11/02/22                              109.46              119.62 
         12/02/22                              116.01              126.43 
         01/04/23                              135.24              146.94 
         02/02/23                              143.87              155.90 
         03/02/23                              130.48              140.99 
         04/04/23                              176.10              189.72 
         05/02/23                              219.72              236.09 
         06/02/23                              227.46              243.71 
         07/05/23                              226.07              241.47 
         08/01/23                              263.45              280.71 
         09/05/23                              328.89              349.32 
         10/03/23                              318.28              337.16 
         11/02/23                              328.93              347.49 
         12/04/23                              316.00              332.83 
         01/03/24                              324.76              341.12 
         02/02/24                              321.86              337.15 
         03/04/24                              301.14              314.50 
         04/02/24                              321.99              335.39 
         05/02/24                              311.52              323.57 
         06/04/24                              321.90              333.34 
         07/02/24                              311.52              321.75 
         08/02/24                              321.71              331.33 
         09/04/24                              321.66              330.28 
         10/02/24                              299.42              306.64 
         11/04/24                              291.00              297.12 
         12/03/24                              270.32              275.25 
         01/03/25                              269.24              273.38 
         02/04/25                              261.05              264.29 
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$2,580,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 2 Project) 
Debt Service Reserve Fund 

 
 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

 
                                                           FUTURE VALUE @ 
                                             RECEIPTS       BOND YIELD OF 
         DATE      DESCRIPTION              (PAYMENTS)        (3.418888%) 
 
         03/04/25                              235.79              238.04 
         04/02/25                              261.05              262.85 
         05/02/25                              252.63              253.66 
         06/03/25                              261.02              261.32 
         06/15/25  Bal                      72,381.26           72,381.26 
         06/15/25  Acc                         126.30              126.30 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
         06/15/25  TOTALS:                   8,567.66           -2,364.32 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
         ISSUE DATE:   03/05/21   REBATABLE ARBITRAGE:  -2,364.32 
         COMP DATE:    06/15/25   NET INCOME:            8,567.66 
         BOND YIELD:  3.418888%   TAX INV YIELD:        2.716420% 
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$2,580,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 2 Project) 
Capitalized Interest Fund 

 
 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

 
                                                           FUTURE VALUE @ 
                                             RECEIPTS       BOND YIELD OF 
         DATE      DESCRIPTION              (PAYMENTS)        (3.418888%) 
 
         03/05/21  Beg Bal                 -59,028.69          -68,240.62 
         04/02/21                               -0.27               -0.31 
         05/03/21                           14,006.80           16,104.48 
         05/04/21                               -0.30               -0.34 
         06/02/21                               -0.31               -0.36 
         07/02/21                               -0.30               -0.34 
         08/02/21                               -0.31               -0.35 
         09/02/21                               -0.31               -0.35 
         10/04/21                               -0.30               -0.34 
         11/01/21                           45,021.88           50,904.01 
         11/02/21                               -0.31               -0.35 
         12/02/21                               -0.30               -0.34 
         01/04/22                               -0.31               -0.35 
         02/02/22                               -0.31               -0.35 
         03/02/22                               -0.28               -0.31 
         04/04/22                               -0.31               -0.35 
         05/02/22                                5.54                6.16 
         05/03/22                               -0.30               -0.33 
         06/02/22                               -0.31               -0.34 
         07/05/22                               -0.30               -0.33 
         08/02/22                               -0.31               -0.34 
         09/02/22                              -47.74              -52.47 
         10/04/22                              -89.24              -97.78 
         10/28/22                              138.26              151.16 
         11/02/22                                0.17                0.19 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
         06/15/25  TOTALS:                       1.84           -1,230.68 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
         ISSUE DATE:   03/05/21   REBATABLE ARBITRAGE:  -1,230.68 
         COMP DATE:    06/15/25   NET INCOME:                1.84 
         BOND YIELD:  3.418888%   TAX INV YIELD:        0.005788% 
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$2,580,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 2 Project) 
Cost of Issuance Fund 

 
 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

 
                                                           FUTURE VALUE @ 
                                             RECEIPTS       BOND YIELD OF 
         DATE      DESCRIPTION              (PAYMENTS)        (3.418888%) 
 
         03/05/21  Beg Bal                -178,150.00         -205,951.83 
         03/05/21                            6,000.00            6,936.35 
         03/05/21                           35,000.00           40,462.05 
         03/05/21                           30,000.00           34,681.76 
         03/05/21                           46,500.00           53,756.72 
         03/05/21                            1,750.00            2,023.10 
         03/22/21                            5,425.00            6,261.59 
         03/25/21                           36,000.00           41,539.80 
         06/25/21                            5,245.20            6,001.27 
         06/29/21                            2,612.90            2,988.41 
         07/01/21                                0.07                0.08 
         08/27/21  to PF                     9,617.33           10,939.57 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
         06/15/25  TOTALS:                       0.50             -361.13 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
         ISSUE DATE:   03/05/21   REBATABLE ARBITRAGE:    -361.13 
         COMP DATE:    06/15/25   NET INCOME:                0.50 
         BOND YIELD:  3.418888%   TAX INV YIELD:        0.005387% 
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$2,580,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 2 Project) 
Rebate Computation Credits 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

  FUTURE VALUE @ 
   RECEIPTS     BOND YIELD OF 

  DATE   DESCRIPTION     (PAYMENTS)      (3.418888%) 

  06/15/21                           -1,780.00           -2,038.50 
  06/15/22                           -1,830.00           -2,025.90 
  06/15/23                           -1,960.00           -2,097.50 
  06/15/24                           -2,070.00           -2,141.38 
  06/15/25                           -2,120.00           -2,120.00 
  ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
  06/15/25  TOTALS:                  -9,760.00          -10,423.27 
  ---------------------------------------------------------------- 

  ISSUE DATE:   03/05/21   REBATABLE ARBITRAGE: -10,423.27
  COMP DATE:    06/15/25 
  BOND YIELD:  3.418888% 
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SUMMARY OF REBATE COMPUTATIONS 
 

Our computations, contained in the attached schedules, are summarized as follows: 
 

For the June 15, 2025 Computation Date 
Reflecting Activity from March 19, 2021 through June 15, 2025 

 
Fund 

Description 
Taxable 
Inv Yield 

Net 
Income 

Rebatable 
Arbitrage 

Project Fund 0.005067% 103.45 (86,404.66) 
Debt Service Reserve Fund 2.742372% 8,919.19 (3,422.55) 
Capitalized Interest Fund 0.005805% 1.80 (1,320.89) 
Cost of Issuance Fund 0.000000% 0.00 0.00 

Totals 0.374365% $9,024.44 $(91,148.10) 
Bond Yield 3.723500%  

Rebate Computation Credits (10,485.10) 
Net Rebatable Arbitrage $(101,633.20) 
 
 
 

Based upon our computations, no rebate liability exists. 
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Prepared by AMTEC (Finance 8.800)

PROOF OF ARBITRAGE YIELD

$2,660,000
Tohoqua Community Development District

(City of St. Cloud, Florida)
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

(Phase 4A/5A Project)

Present Value
to 03/19/2021

Date Debt Service @  3.7235001760%

11/01/2049 5,700.00 1,983.22
05/01/2050 145,700.00 49,767.35
11/01/2050 2,900.00 972.46
05/01/2051 147,900.00 48,689.00

4,513,718.26 2,680,371.75

Proceeds Summary

Delivery date 03/19/2021
Par Value 2,660,000.00
Premium (Discount) 20,371.75

Target for yield calculation 2,680,371.75
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Prepared by AMTEC (Finance 8.800)

BOND DEBT SERVICE

$2,660,000
Tohoqua Community Development District

(City of St. Cloud, Florida)
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021

(Phase 4A/5A Project)

Period Annual
Ending Principal Coupon Interest Debt Service Debt Service

11/01/2049 5,700.00 5,700.00
05/01/2050 140,000 4.000% 5,700.00 145,700.00 151,400.00
11/01/2050 2,900.00 2,900.00
05/01/2051 145,000 4.000% 2,900.00 147,900.00 150,800.00

2,660,000 1,853,718.26 4,513,718.26 4,513,718.26
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$2,660,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 4A/5A Project) 
Project Fund 

 
 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

 
                                                           FUTURE VALUE @ 
                                             RECEIPTS       BOND YIELD OF 
         DATE      DESCRIPTION              (PAYMENTS)        (3.723500%) 
 
         03/19/21  Beg Bal              -2,294,934.75       -2,683,409.49 
         08/27/21                          -18,839.97          -21,675.29 
         08/30/21                          635,166.95          730,531.57 
         09/28/21                            1,125.00            1,290.20 
         09/28/21                              745.00              854.40 
         09/28/21                              105.00              120.42 
         02/07/22                            1,035.00            1,171.40 
         04/08/22                        1,675,691.38        1,884,702.29 
         06/15/25  Bal                           9.82                9.82 
         06/15/25  Acc                           0.02                0.02 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
         06/15/25  TOTALS:                     103.45          -86,404.66 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
         ISSUE DATE:   03/19/21   REBATABLE ARBITRAGE:  -86,404.66 
         COMP DATE:    06/15/25   NET INCOME:               103.45 
         BOND YIELD:  3.723500%   TAX INV YIELD:         0.005067% 
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$2,660,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 4A/5A Project) 
Debt Service Reserve Fund 

 
 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

 
                                                           FUTURE VALUE @ 
                                             RECEIPTS       BOND YIELD OF 
         DATE      DESCRIPTION              (PAYMENTS)        (3.723500%) 
 
         03/19/21  Beg Bal                 -75,350.00          -88,104.86 
         04/02/21                                0.13                0.15 
         05/04/21                                0.31                0.36 
         06/02/21                                0.32                0.37 
         07/02/21                                0.31                0.36 
         08/03/21                                0.32                0.37 
         09/02/21                                0.32                0.37 
         10/04/21                                0.31                0.36 
         11/02/21                                0.32                0.37 
         12/02/21                                0.31                0.35 
         01/04/22                                0.32                0.36 
         02/02/22                                0.32                0.36 
         03/02/22                                0.29                0.33 
         04/04/22                                0.32                0.36 
         05/03/22                                0.31                0.35 
         06/02/22                                0.32                0.36 
         07/05/22                                0.31                0.35 
         08/02/22                                0.32                0.36 
         09/02/22                               49.70               55.08 
         10/04/22                               92.90              102.62 
         11/02/22                              113.95              125.51 
         12/02/22                              120.77              132.62 
         01/04/23                              140.79              154.09 
         02/02/23                              149.77              163.45 
         03/02/23                              135.84              147.79 
         04/04/23                              183.32              198.80 
         05/02/23                              228.73              247.33 
         06/02/23                              236.78              255.25 
         07/05/23                              235.34              252.84 
         08/01/23                              274.25              293.86 
         09/05/23                              342.38              365.59 
         10/03/23                              331.33              352.78 
         11/02/23                              342.43              363.51 
         12/04/23                              328.96              348.07 
         01/03/24                              338.08              356.66 
         02/02/24                              335.06              352.42 
         03/04/24                              313.49              328.66 
         04/02/24                              335.20              350.41 
         05/02/24                              324.30              337.97 
         06/04/24                              335.11              348.10 
         07/02/24                              324.30              335.90 
         08/02/24                              334.91              345.83 
         09/04/24                              334.85              344.63 
         10/02/24                              311.70              319.89 
         11/04/24                              302.93              309.87 
         12/03/24                              281.40              286.99 
         01/03/25                              280.28              284.97 
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$2,660,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 4A/5A Project) 
Debt Service Reserve Fund 

 
 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

 
                                                           FUTURE VALUE @ 
                                             RECEIPTS       BOND YIELD OF 
         DATE      DESCRIPTION              (PAYMENTS)        (3.723500%) 
 
         02/04/25                              271.76              275.43 
         03/04/25                              245.46              248.01 
         04/02/25                              271.76              273.80 
         05/02/25                              262.99              264.15 
         06/03/25                              271.73              272.06 
         06/15/25  Bal                      75,350.00           75,350.00 
         06/15/25  Acc                         131.48              131.48 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
         06/15/25  TOTALS:                   8,919.19           -3,422.55 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
         ISSUE DATE:   03/19/21   REBATABLE ARBITRAGE:  -3,422.55 
         COMP DATE:    06/15/25   NET INCOME:            8,919.19 
         BOND YIELD:  3.723500%   TAX INV YIELD:        2.742372% 
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$2,660,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 4A/5A Project) 
Capitalized Interest Fund 

 
 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

 
                                                           FUTURE VALUE @ 
                                             RECEIPTS       BOND YIELD OF 
         DATE      DESCRIPTION              (PAYMENTS)        (3.723500%) 
 
         03/19/21                          -59,237.00          -69,264.33 
         04/02/21                               -0.13               -0.15 
         05/03/21                           11,207.01           13,045.12 
         05/04/21                               -0.31               -0.36 
         06/02/21                               -0.32               -0.37 
         07/01/21                               -0.31               -0.36 
         08/03/21                               -0.32               -0.37 
         09/02/21                               -0.32               -0.37 
         10/04/21                               -0.31               -0.36 
         11/01/21                           48,030.00           54,897.02 
         11/02/21                               -0.32               -0.37 
         12/02/21                               -0.31               -0.35 
         01/04/22                               -0.32               -0.36 
         02/02/22                               -0.32               -0.36 
         03/02/22                               -0.29               -0.33 
         04/04/22                               -0.32               -0.36 
         05/02/22                                5.45                6.11 
         05/03/22                               -0.31               -0.35 
         06/02/22                               -0.32               -0.36 
         07/05/22                               -0.31               -0.35 
         08/02/22                               -0.32               -0.36 
         09/02/22                              -49.70              -55.08 
         10/04/22                              -92.90             -102.62 
         10/28/22                              143.92              158.59 
         11/02/22                             -113.95             -125.51 
         11/02/22                                0.18                0.20 
         11/04/22                              113.95              125.49 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
         06/15/25  TOTALS:                       1.80           -1,320.89 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
         ISSUE DATE:   03/19/21   REBATABLE ARBITRAGE:  -1,320.89 
         COMP DATE:    06/15/25   NET INCOME:                1.80 
         BOND YIELD:  3.723500%   TAX INV YIELD:        0.005805% 
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$2,660,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 4A/5A Project) 
Cost of Issuance Fund 

 
 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

 
                                                           FUTURE VALUE @ 
                                             RECEIPTS       BOND YIELD OF 
         DATE      DESCRIPTION              (PAYMENTS)        (3.723500%) 
 
         03/19/21  Beg Bal                -197,650.00         -231,107.17 
         03/19/21                          197,650.00          231,107.17 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
         06/15/25  TOTALS:                       0.00                0.00 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
         ISSUE DATE:   03/19/21   REBATABLE ARBITRAGE:         0.00 
         COMP DATE:    06/15/25   NET INCOME:                  0.00 
         BOND YIELD:  3.723500%   TAX INV YIELD:          0.000000% 
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$2,660,000 
Tohoqua Community Development District 

(City of St. Cloud, Florida) 
Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 

(Phase 4A/5A Project) 
Rebate Computation Credits 

 
 

ARBITRAGE REBATE CALCULATION 
DETAIL REPORT 

 
                                                           FUTURE VALUE @ 
                                             RECEIPTS       BOND YIELD OF 
         DATE      DESCRIPTION              (PAYMENTS)        (3.723500%) 
 
         06/15/21                           -1,780.00           -2,063.05 
         06/15/22                           -1,830.00           -2,044.17 
         06/15/23                           -1,960.00           -2,110.09 
         06/15/24                           -2,070.00           -2,147.79 
         06/15/25                           -2,120.00           -2,120.00 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
         06/15/25  TOTALS:                  -9,760.00          -10,485.10 
         ---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
         ISSUE DATE:   03/19/21   REBATABLE ARBITRAGE:  -10,485.10 
         COMP DATE:    06/15/25 
         BOND YIELD:  3.723500% 
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SECTION E 
  



SECTION 1 
  



SECTION 2 
  



SECTION 3 



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS MEETING DATES 

TOHOQUA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

FISCAL YEAR 2026 

The Board of Supervisors of the Tohoqua Community Development District will hold their regular 

meetings for Fiscal Year 2026 on the first Wednesday of the month at 9:00 a.m. at 1830 Fulfillment 

Drive, Kissimmee, FL 34744 unless otherwise indicated as follows: 

October 1, 2025 

November 5, 2025 

December 3, 2025 

January 7, 2026 

February 4, 2026 

March 4, 2026 

April 1, 2026 

May 6, 2026 

June 3, 2026 

July 1, 2026 

August 5, 2026 

September 2, 2026 

The meetings are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the provision of 

Florida Law for Community Development Districts. The meetings may be continued to a date, 

time, and place to be specified on the record at the meeting.  A copy of the agenda for these 

meetings may be obtained from Governmental Management Services - Central Florida, LLC, 219 

E. Livingston Street, Orlando, Florida 32801 or by calling (407) 841-5524.

There may be occasions when one or more Supervisors or staff will participate by telephone. 

Pursuant to provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special 

accommodations at this meeting because of a disability or physical impairment should contact the 

District Office at (407) 841-5524 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.  If you are hearing or 

speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service by dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 

(TTY) / 1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid in contacting the District Office.   

A person who decides to appeal any decision made at the meeting with respect to any matter 

considered at the meeting is advised that person will need a record of the proceedings and that 

accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, 

including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. 

District Manager 



SECTION 4 
  







 

 

 
Goal 3.3: Annual Financial Audit 

Objective: Conduct an annual independent financial audit per statutory 
requirements and publish the results to the CDD website for public inspection, and 
transmit to the State of Florida. 
Measurement: Timeliness of audit completion and publication as evidenced by 
meeting minutes showing board approval and annual audit is available on the 
CDD’s website and transmitted to the State of Florida. 
Standard: Audit was completed by an independent auditing firm per statutory 
requirements and results were posted to the CDD website and transmitted to the 
State of Florida. 
Achieved: Yes ☐ No ☐ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Chair/Vice Chair:____________________________   Date:________________ 
Print Name:_________________________________ 
Tohoqua Community Development District 
 

 
 

District Manager:____________________________   Date:________________ 
Print Name:_________________________________ 
Tohoqua Community Development District 
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